

An investigation into the targets for cannabinoid action in the ciliate *Tetrahymena pyriformis*

Nadia Wanlahbeh

Under the supervision of Dr. Jackie Parry & Dr. Karen Wright

MSc Biomedical Science (by research) Research Project Academic year 2017/2018

Declaration

This thesis has not been submitted in support of an application for another degree at this or any other university. It is the result of my own work and includes nothing that is the outcome of work done in collaboration except where specifically indicated. Many of the ideas in this thesis were the product of discussion with my supervisor Dr. Jackie Parry and Dr. Karen Wright.

Table of Contents

	Acknowledgement	5
	Glossary	6
	Abstract	8
1.	Introduction	9
	1.1. The human endocannabinoid system	10
	1.2. The main cannabinoid ligands	12
	1.3. The metabolizing enzymes	13
	1.3.1. Biosynthesising enzyme	14
	1.3.2. Catalysing enzyme	15
	1.4. The Main Cannabinoid Receptors – CB and Non-CB	17
	1.4.1. Cannabinoid receptor: CB ₁ and CB ₂	17
	1.4.2. Non-CB receptor	18
	1.4.2.1. TRPV1	18
	1.4.2.2. GPR55 and deorphanized GPRs	19
	1.4.2.3. PPARs	20
	1.5. Evidence for an ECS in singled cell eukaryotes	22
	1.6. The ECS in the ciliate <i>Tetrahymena</i>	23
	1.6.1. The endocannabinoid ligand	23
	1.6.2. Enzymes	24
	1.6.2.1. FAAH	25
	1.6.2.2. MAGL	25
	1.6.3. The potential endocannabinoid receptor in <i>Tetrahymena</i>	26
	1.6.3.1. The case of PPARs	27
	1.6.3.2. The case for GPCRs	27
	1.0.5.5. The case for a dopainine receptor	20
	1.7 Overan objectives and specific anns	
2.	Materials and Method	31
	2.1. Organisms and maintenance	31
	2.1.1. Klebsiella aerogenes	31
	2.1.2. Tetrahymena pyriformis	31
	2.2. Cell counts	31
	2.2.1. T. pyriformis	31
	2.2.2. K. aerogenes	31
	2.3. Experimental compounds	32
	2.3.1. Agonists	32
	2.3.2. Antagonists/blockers	32
	2.4 Experiments	33
	2.4.1. General response of <i>T. pyriformis</i> to an agonist, using CBD as an example	33

	2.4.2. Determining the susceptibility of <i>T. pyriformis</i> to PPAR agonists – M	IIC and
	IC ₅₀	
	2.4.2.1. Determining the IC_{50}	
	2.4.2.2. Determining the MIC	
	2.4.3. Determining the lethal dose of PPAR agonists to <i>T. pyriformis</i>	34
	2.4.4. Investigating potential molecular targets for agonists in <i>T. pyriformis</i>	34
	2.4.4.1. PPAR receptor blocking	
	2.4.4.2. Dopamine receptor blocking	
	2.4.4.3. H89 and PTX	
	2.4.4.4. Dose-response	
3.	Results	
	3.1. General response of <i>T. pyriformis</i> to PPAR agonists	
	3.2. T. pyriformis susceptibility to the PPAR agonists	
	3.3. PPAR receptors as potential targets for agonists in T. pyriformis	40
	3.3.1. OEA	40
	3.3.2. GW0742	41
	3.3.3. AEA	43
	3.3.4. CBD	45
	3.3.5. Summary	46
	3.4. Dopamine receptor	
	3.5. G protein-coupled receptor	
	3.6. Summary of results	
4.	Discussion	50
	4.1. Summary of major findings	
	4.2. Lethal effect of cannabinoids on protists	50
	4.3. Lethal effect of cannabinoids on cancer cells	
	4.4. Mechanisms of cell death in <i>Tetrahymena</i>	53
	4.5. Involvement of receptors in cell death	55
	4.5.1. PPARs	55
	4.5.2. G protein-coupled receptors	58
	4.5.3. Dopamine receptor	59
	4.6. Conclusions	60
Ар	pendix I: Media Recipes	62
Ap	pendix II: Raw data	63
Re	ferences	65

Acknowledgement

Foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude and deep appreciation to Dr. Jackie Parry, my main research supervisor, who has ignited my curiosity and interest in the world of protist, who has given me the most valuable opportunity of experiencing and engaging in an overseas seminar with scientists globally from the International Society for Evolutionary Protistiology. Her sincere dedication, vision, and motivation have deeply inspired me. Without her support and devotion, I can hardly imagine the completion of this thesis.

I would also like to extend my appreciation to my second supervisor, Dr. Karen Wright, for her greatest assistance in filling the gap of the missing knowledge in this project, and her most patient guidance on the final calculations and sample preparation, especially on Haloperidol and Pertussis toxin. Her guidance has help sparked through many unknown/indescribable points in this thesis.

Also, I would like to thank Dr. Mick Urbaniak for his most patient and greatest support on QtiPlot data analysis program, and also to a very supportive BLS lab technician, Janice Drinkall, for her help and advice on cell culture, microscope, and samples preparation.

I would also like to extend my acknowledgment to Shruthi Sivakumar and Ashley Jones for their provision on AEA and CBD data.

Finally, I wish to thank my lab mates; Adela Boboc, Israa Al-Hammadi, Charou Jaisswar, for their best support and encouragement throughout this project.

Glossary

2-AcG	2-Acylglycerol
2-AG	2-Arachidonoylglycerols
2-EG	2-eicosenoylglycerol
2-GLG	2-γ-linolenoylglycerol
2-LG	2-linoleoylglycerol
2-OG	2-oleoylglycerol
2-PG	2-palmitoylglycerol
2-SG	2-stearoylglycerol (2-SG)
AA	Arachidonic acid
AEA	N-arachidonoyl ethanolamine, Anandamide
СВ	Cannabinoid receptor
CBD	Cannabidiol
COX	Cyclooxygenase
DAGL	Diacylglycerol Lipase
DHA	Docosahexaenoic acid
EEA	N-Eicosenoylethanolamine
EPA	Eicosapentaenoic acid
FAAA	Fatty acids amides of amino acids
FAAH	Fatty acid amide hydrolase
FABP	Fatty acids binding protein
GLA	γ-linolenic acid
GLEA	N - γ -Linolenoylethanolamine
GPCR	G protein-coupled receptor
HPD	Haloperidol
IC ₅₀	Half maximal inhibitory concentration
LA	Linoleic acid
LEA	N-Linoleoylethanolamine
LOX	Lipoxygenase
MAGL	Monoacylglycerol lipase
MAGs	Monoacylglycerols
MIC	Minimum inhibitory concentration
NAAA	N-Acylethanolamine-hydrolysing acid amidase

NAEs	N-Acylethanolamines
NAPE-PLD	N-Acyl-Phosphatidylethanolamine Phospholipase D
OEA	N-Oleoylethanolamine
PEA	N-Palmitoylethanolamine
PPAR	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor
PPRE	Peroxisome proliferator response elements
РТХ	Pertussis toxin
RXR	Retinoid X-receptor
SEA	N-Stearoylethanolamine
TRPV1	Transient receptor potential vanilloid type 1
Δ ⁹ -THC	Delta-9-Tetrahydrocannabinol

Abstract

The human endocannabinoid system (ECS) modulates many vital physiological and neuromodulatory functions. It comprises lipid endocannabinoids, e.g. Anandamide (AEA), which are synthesized on demand and which bind to receptors (e.g. CB_1 , CB_2) to elicit a response. Single-celled protists can respond to endocannabinoids despite not possessing any of the known cannabinoid receptors suggesting they possess a rudimentary ECS with an unknown target for the endocannabinoids.

The ciliate *Tetrahymena thermophila* possesses a suite of endocannabinoids (including AEA), with *N*-palmitoylethanolamide (PEA) and *N*-oleoylethanolamide (OEA) being two of the dominant compounds. In humans, the natural receptor for the latter is the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha (PPAR α) but this receptor has not been identified in the *T. thermophila* genome. It may be that *Tetrahymena* spp. possess a 'PPAR-like' receptor or they possess a different target, which mediate a reaction to these endocannabinoids.

This study examined the potential role of 'PPARs' in the ECS of *Tetrahymena pyriformis*. Cell death was examined in the presence of agonists to each of the three known PPAR types, i.e. OEA/PEA/AEA/Cannabidiol (CBD) (to PPAR α), GW0742 (to PPAR β/δ), and Rosiglitazone (PPAR γ). All agonists induced ciliate cell death and all, except PEA and Rosiglitazone, gave IC₅₀ values similar to those recorded for human cells (GW0742, 12 μ M; OEA, 45 μ M; AEA and CBD, 4 μ M). The negative action of some of these agonists could be alleviated by blocking PPAR isoforms with their respective antagonists (GW6471 for PPAR α , GSK3787 for PPAR β/δ , and T0070907 for PPAR γ). The action of AEA and GW0742 were alleviated with all antagonists, CBD was only alleviated with GW6471 (for PPAR α), and OEA was alleviated by none. Results suggest that *T. pyriformis* possesses a PPAR-like protein/target for AEA, CBD, and GW0742, but not for OEA.

Since the target of OEA was not a PPAR, this study explored other potential targets by using antagonists against the Dopamine receptor (Haloperidol), $G\alpha_{i/o}$ (Pertussis toxin [PTX]), and Protein kinase A (H89). Only PTX slightly alleviated the effect of OEA, suggesting a $G\alpha_{i/o}$ receptor mechanism.

Although the results are preliminary, further study may lead to the mapping and deeper understanding of the nature of the ECS in *Tetrahymena* and these non-CB pathways may be a possible therapeutic target in key diseases such as cancer, obesity and diabetes.

1. Introduction

The human endocannabinoid system (ECS) is essential in the modulation of many fundamental regulations from cellular activities to physiological functions such as neurodegeneration, psychosis and anxiety, cardiovascular, pain, and appetite (Bih et al., 2015; Zou and Kumar, 2018). The ECS is a complex signaling pathway found throughout the body, being dominant in the brain, cardiovascular, nervous, reproductive, intestinal and the immune tissues (Zou and Kumar, 2018). This makes cannabinoids a novel therapeutic target for a range of diseases including cancer, diabetes, anxiety, addiction, epilepsy and many other neurological disorders including Parkinson's and Alzheimer's disease (Bih et al., 2015; Dariš et al., 2019).

Many years of research has been dedicated to identifying and understanding the nature and individual components of the ECS, especially the effects of cannabinoid compounds such as cannabidiol (CBD), delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol (Δ^9 -THC), 2-arahidonoyl glycerol (2-AG) and anadamide (AEA) upon it. However, studies have often been contradictory, suggesting a broad mechanism of action due to numerous possible receptors. As such, studying the endocannabinoid system in a simpler organism, which has no known receptors but can still respond to cannabinoids, may help to gain a better understanding of the nature of the ECS.

The ciliate *Tetrahymena* is a single-celled eukaryote which is widely used as a model organism in biomedical studies due to its low maintenance, rapid growth and the availability of DNA and genomic data (Ruehle et al., 2016). The study of ECS in *Tetrahymena* may reveal interesting, yet, simpler signaling pathways of the eukaryotic ECS in general.

This literature review explains the fundamental function of the ECS in humans and its main components; cannabinoid ligands, the four main receptors (both CB and non-CB), and their metabolizing enzymes. The review then provides evidence for a rudimentary ECS in single-celled eukaryotes and in particular, in the ciliate *Tetrahymena*, which despite possessing none of the four main cannabinoid receptors, responds negatively to cannabinoids. This review then further explores the most likely potential cannabinoid receptors in this ciliate; the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR), Dopamine (D) and orphan G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs).

1.1. The human endocannabinoid system

The human endocannabinoid system comprises cannabinoid receptors, together with their lipids ligand and the enzymes which synthesized and degrades them (Pertwee et al., 2010; Lu and Mackie, 2016). The system has a broad neuro-modulatory effect as well as non-neuronal effects such as the regulation of appetite through the gastrointestinal (GI) tract and fertility through the reproductive system (Izzo and Sharkey, 2010; Zou and Kumar, 2018).

The extracts of the plant *Cannabis sativa* (marijuana) have long been used for medicinal purposes to treat ailments such as cramp and provide pain relief (Mechoulam, 1986; Pertwee, 2009). However, only in the mid-1900s was the first cannabis constituent discovered, i.e., delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol (Δ^9 -THC), which is the main psychoactive phytocannabinoid of the *C. sativa* (Gaoni and Mechoulam, 1964). Then followed the discovery of the first cannabinoid receptor, now referred as CB₁ (Matsuda et al., 1990). Its identification and successful cloning then led to the discovery of the second cannabinoid receptor, CB₂, and the first 'endocannabinoid' *N*-arachidonoylethanolamine (anandamide; AEA) (Devane et al., 1992; Munro et al., 1993). This was followed shortly by the discovery of the second endocannabinoid 2-arachidonoyl glycerol (2-AG) (Sugiura et al., 1995; Mechoulam et al., 1995).

The 'endocannabinoids' are named as such because mammalian tissues are capable of producing their own cannabinoids on demand, which are released and bind to cannabinoid receptors to elicit a response. It is noteworthy that although these first two endocannabinoids (AEA and 2-AG) bind to CB₁ and CB₂, they possess distinctive properties such that 2-AG is a full agonist of both receptors with moderate to low binding affinity, whereas AEA is a partial agonist of CB₁ with high binding affinity but has almost no binding affinity for CB₂ (Pertwee et al., 2010). In addition, these agonists also induce activation of numerous non-CB receptors. For example, AEA can bind to the transient receptor potential channel vanilloid 1 (TRPV1), Dopamine, peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (i.e. PPAR α and PPAR γ), and various other orphan G protein coupled receptors (e.g. GPR55) (Zygmunt et al., 1999; Ahluwalia et al., 2003a; Pertwee et al., 2010; Lee et al., 2016). Thus, in addition to the main CB receptors, cannabinoids are capable of binding to more than one receptor, depending on cell types and site of actions, which results in the broad activation of signaling pathways.

During endocannabinoid retrograde signaling, the endocannabinoids AEA and 2-AG are synthesized on demand in response to an increased intracellular Ca2+ concentration and which are then degraded after activation of the CB₁ and other non-CB targets (Katona and Freund, (Figure 1.1). Generally, AEA synthesized 2008) is from N-acylphosphotidylethanolamine (NAPE) by the enzyme NAPE-specific phospholipase D (NAPE-PLD) (Okamoto et al., 2004). On the other hand, 2-AG is synthesized from diacylglycerol (DAG) by two of the DAG lipases - DAGLa and DAGLB (Murataeva et al., 2014). Once transported to the site of action and taken up by the cells, fatty acid amide hydrolase (FAAH) catabolized AEA into free arachidonic acid (AA) and ethanolamine, whereas 2-AG is degraded to AA and glycerol by monoacylglycerol lipase (MAGL). Catalysis of AEA and 2-AG sometimes involves the oxidative enzymes such as cyclooxygenase-2 (COX2) and other lipoxygenases (LOX) (Deutsch et al., 2002; Zou and Kumar, 2018).



Figure 1.1: Simplified schematic representation of endocannabinoid retrograde signaling in synaptic transmission, as an example of an endocannabinoid system; comprised of the cannabinoid receptor (in this case CB₁), cannabinoid ligands (AEA and 2-AG), and their metabolic enzymes (NAPE-PLD, FAAH, DAGL, MAGL) (Zou and Kumar, 2018).

In the past few decades the study of the endocannabinoid system has gained more attention due to the promising therapeutic effects of the agonists on various diseases including cancer, Parkinson's, epilepsy and many more (Hill et al., 2012; Patil et al., 2015). The extensive study of the ECS has demonstrated that cannabinoid receptor agonists induce the activation of non-CB receptors, and at the same time, CB receptors can be activated by wide array of ligands. This indicates that the ECS is involved in broad modulatory functions and also plays a significant role in sustaining life, and therefore the understanding of this system may lead to uncovering many further therapeutic treatments.

1.2. The main cannabinoid ligands

There are many ligands involved in the activation and inhibition of the endocannabinoid system, including the endo-, synthetic- and exogenous cannabinoids. The endocannabinoid and endocannabinoid-like compounds are classified based on their acyl chain: 1) *N*-acylethanolamines (NAEs); 2) monoacylglycerols (MAGs); 3) *N*-acyldopamines; 4) *N*-acylserotonin, 5) Fatty acids amides of amino acids (FAAAs), and 6) COX2-derivatives (Piscitelli, 2015).

AEA, is a long-chain fatty acid ethanolamine and a representative of the NAEs. Other members of the NAEs include *N*-palmitoylethanolamide (PEA), *N*-oleoylethanolamide (OEA), *N*-stearoylethanolamide (SEA), and *N*-linoleoylethanolamide (LEA) (Figure 1.2). Although AEA is the most studied NAE, due to its activity and well characterized interaction with the cannabinoid receptors, it should be noted that AEA is only a minor component of NAEs whereas other NAEs, particularly OEA and PEA, are more abundant in animal tissues (Piscitelli, 2015). And, unlike AEA, OEA and PEA are better characterized as agonists of the PPAR α receptor where OEA is often associated with satiety and feeding behaviour, while both OEA and PEA serve as anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective compounds (Suardíaz et al., 2007; Fu et al., 2003; Di Cesare Mannelli et al., 2013). However, evidence exists that PEA interact with the CB₂ receptor although at a much lower affinity compared to PPAR α (Facci et al., 1995) and that NAEs, particularly OEA, are capable of activating several other receptors including TPRV1 and GPR119 (Kleberg et al., 2014; Piscitelli, 2015) (see section 1.4.2).



The phytocannabinoid THC was the first cannabinoid compound identified from *C. sativa* and has long been used for medicinal and recreation purposes. Over 85 phytocannabinoids have been identified from the same plant, but the psychoactive THC and its non-psychoactive isomer, cannabidiol (CBD) still remain the most studied phytocannabinoids (El-Alfy et al., 2010; Bih et al., 2015). CBD targets both the CB₁ and CB₂ receptors but with lower affinity compared to THC (Pertwee et al., 2010), it is more likely that CBD acts as antagonist at CB₁/CB₂ rather than an agonist (Pertwee, 2008; Bih et al., 2015). Moreover, many studies have demonstrated that CBD can also target non-CB receptors such as GPR55, PPAR γ , TRPV1 and those for adenosine and serotonin (Bih et al., 2015).

1.3. The metabolizing enzymes

The metabolism of the two major endocannabinoids, AEA and 2-AG, are welled known in humans with AEA and 2-AG being synthesized with the aid of enzymes NAPE-PLD and

DAGL α/β , respectively and hydrolyzed by FAAH and MAGL, respectively (see Figure 1.1). However, multiple studies have shown that there is more than one distinct pathway involved in the synthesis and degradation of these endocannabinoids (Kano et al., 2009).

1.3.1. Biosynthesising enzymes

AEA, and its closely related long-chain NAEs, are synthesised from NAPE with the aid of the enzyme NAPE-PLD. NAPE plays a crucial role as a precursor in NAEs synthesis and can be synthesised from phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) or sn-1-arachidonate of phospholipids by the enzyme N-acyltransferase (NAT) (Iannotti et al., 2016).

Studies of NAEs biosynthesising pathway suggested that they can be synthesised via 3 main routes: 1) direct hydrolysis of NAPE by NAPE-PLD; 2) a three-step catalysis, through NAPE deacylation to glycerophosphoethanolamine (GP-NAE) by α/β -hydrolase-4 (ABH4) and further to NAE by glycerophosphodiesterase-1 (GDE-1); and 3) a two-step pathway through hydrolysis of NAPE by phospholipase C, forming phospho-NAE as an intermediate and further dephosphorylate by a poorly characterised phosphatase (e.g. PTPN22) to NAE (Figure 1.3) (Kleberg et al., 2014; Iannotti et al., 2016). It was also suggested that preference for one pathway over another might also relate to cell/tissue specification and/or the availability of precursors (Muccioli, 2010).

In the case of 2-acylglycerols (2-AcG) such as 2-AG, these are generally formed as an intermediate in the synthesis of triacylglycerol and phospholipids in the central nervous system (CNS) and peripheral cells (Kleberg et al., 2014). 2-AcG is known to be produced in a stimulus-dependent manner, activating $G_{q/11}$ -coupled-receptor (e.g. glutamate receptor) as a result of a strong Ca²⁺ influx, thus upregulating 2-AG production (Muccioli, 2010).

Biochemical studies have revealed two primary pathways for 2-AG production. The first one involves the combination of the enzymes phospholipase C (PLC) and diacylglycerol lipase (DAGL). Initially, PLC hydrolyses membrane phospholipids such as phosphatidylinositol, producing 1-acyl-2-arachidonylglycerol (diacylglycerol, or DAG) which is subsequently hydrolyses to 2-AG by either of the two specific enzymes DAG lipase α or β (Figure 1.3) (Kano et al., 2009).



Besides the formation of DAG as a precursor, 2-AG can also be generated in an alternative pathway featuring a 2-arachidonoyl-lysophophatidylinositol (Lyso-PI) intermediate. This involves the sequential reactions of phospholipids by phospholipase A₁ (PLA₁), producing lyso-Pl intermediate, and lyso-PLC specific enzyme, producing 2-AG (Muccioli, 2010). Biosynthetic pathways for 2-AG are also considered to vary depending on a cell/tissue type and conditions of stimuli (Kano et al., 2009).

1.3.2. Catalysing enzymes

Degradation of endocannabinoids are categorised into two different pathways, hydrolysis and oxidation. The enzymes involved in the hydrolysis pathway include fatty acid amide hydrolase (FAAH) for NAEs and monoacylglycerol lipase (MAGL) for 2-AcGs (Kano et al., 2009). The oxidation pathway involves the well-known oxidative enzymes cyclooxygenase

(COX) and lipoxygenase (LOX), which regulate oxidation of many arachidonic moieties of endocannabinoids (Kano et al., 2009).

Hydrolysis: FAAH is the primary enzyme responsible for NAEs catalysis, resulting in the free fatty acid and ethanolamide (Figure 1.3). Decreased levels of FAAH via enzyme inhibition or FAAH knock out mice result in the accumulation of NAEs (Cravatt et al., 2001; Kleberg et al., 2014). FAAH is found in both the CNS and the periphery (Cravatt et al., 1996) and is an integral membrane enzyme, with a molecular mass of ~63 kDa in human, rat, and mouse cells (Giang and Cravatt, 1997; Kano et al., 2009). This serine hydrolase has an optimum alkaline pH and is able to recognise a variety of fatty acid amides, however its preferred substrate is AEA, followed by LEA and OEA. It has also been reported that FAAH can catalyse the hydrolysis of the ester bond of 2-AG *in vitro* (Di Marzo et al., 1998; Goparaju et al., 1998; Kano et al., 2009).

A second membrane-associated FAAH was identified in humans and primates, but not in rodent tissues (Wei et al., 2006). This was named 'FAAH-2'. Although both FAAHs share a common Ser-Ser-Lys catalytic triad, they only share sequence homology of ~20% and FAAH-2 only contains 524 amino acids, weighs 57.4 kDa, and is localised in cytosolic lipid droplets rather than the endoplasmic reticulum (Wei et al., 2006; Kaczocha et al., 2010). Although FAAH-2 is highly expressed throughout the periphery it is less active at hydrolysing NAEs, compared to FAAH (Kaczocha et al., 2010). Thus, it was suggested that FAAH-2 might only act as a 'rescue' enzyme in NAE hydrolysis in a decreased/inhibited FAAH condition (Kaczocha et al., 2010).

The third NAE-hydrolysing enzyme is the N-acyl ethanolamine-hydrolysing acid amidase (NAAA). In contrast to FAAH, NAAA is a member of cysteine hydrolase family, which preferentially hydrolyses PEA, with an optima at acidic pH (4.5-5) and being localised in the lysozymes (Iannotti et al., 2016). High levels of NAAA expression are seen in the immune cells, specifically macrophage, where its level can increase during inflammation in response to increased PEA levels (as anti-inflammation) (Iannotti et al., 2016).

MAGL is recognised as the main enzyme in 2-AcG degradation, hydrolysing acylglycerols to free fatty acids and glycerol (Iannotti et al., 2016). Human, rat, and mouse MAGL all contain 303 amino acids and weigh 33 kDa (Karlsson et al., 1997, 2001; Dinh et al., 2002a). A study of 2-AG hydrolysis in mouse brain homogenate clearly shows that MAGL is responsible for

~85% of 2-AG catalysis whereas the other 15% is catalysed by poorly characterised hydrolases, ABH6 and ABH12 (Blankman et al., 2007).

Oxidation: In a less common degradation route, both NAEs and 2-AcGs can be oxygenated by both COX and LOX. In mammalian systems, there are 3 forms of COX: COX-1, COX-2, and COX-3 (Kano et al., 2009). Incubation of AEA with these enzymes showed that purified COX-2, catalysed both 2-AG and AEA, as efficacious and with lower affinity compared to AA (Wilson et al., 2001). For LOX, this lipoxygenase is expressed in both mammals and plants. Several types of LOXs display active oxidation on the arachidonate positions of endocannabinoids, both AEA and 2-AG, producing various types of hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid (HETE) (Rouzer and Marnett, 2011).

1.4. The Main Cannabinoid receptors – CB and Non-CB

1.4.1. Cannabinoid receptors: CB1 and CB2

The two cannabinoid receptors in mammalian systems, CB_1 and CB_2 , are both primary mediators of most endocannabinoids as well as other exogenous cannabinoid ligands (e.g. THC and CBD). CB_1 is found throughout the central nervous system (CNS), with high expression in the hippocampus, olfactory bulb, basal ganglia, and cerebellum, where it is involved in retrograde signaling of endocannabinoids (Castillo et al., 2012). Research has revealed that progressive loss of CB_1 is an early sign for Huntington's disease (HD) and the worsening of the disease in an already HD patient (Blázquez et al., 2010). Although CB_1 is most abundant in the brain it can also be found in synaptic nerves, cardiac muscle, adrenal gland, ovary, testes, immune cells, as well as the GI tract where CB_1 participates in the regulation of food intake and energy balance (Zou and Kumar, 2018).

 CB_2 is often referred to as 'the peripheral CB receptor' because of its relatively low expression in the CNS. CB_2 is predominantly found in immune cells particularly macrophages, and in other peripheral tissues and organs including bone, adipose tissue, liver, GI tract, reproductive and cardiovascular system (Zou and Kumar, 2018). CB_2 is also expressed by some neurons both in the brain and peripheral sites (Onaivi et al., 2006). Despite the low expression of CB_2 , increased expression in the CNS was observed following tissue injury or inflammation, but the mode of action remains unclear (Maresz et al., 2005). Both CB₁ and CB₂ are members of the superfamily of G protein-coupled receptor proteins (GCPR), and are coupled to G protein G_i and G_o (Lu and Mackie, 2016). Their activation results in, (i) the inhibition of adenylyl cyclase (AC) and voltage gated calcium channels, (ii) down regulation of cyclic AMP (cAMP), (iii) activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), (iv) activation of Phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) pathway and (v) various other signaling pathways depending on the specific cell type (Lu and Mackie, 2016; Zou and Kumar, 2018). These receptors exert a broad neuromodulatory function, both in the peripheral and CNS, as well as in non-neuronal cells, in a cell type and ligand specific manner with different ligands having different selectivities and affinities for the receptors and thus exerting distinct signaling cascades (Lu and Mackie, 2016; Zou and Kumar, 2018). Studies have shown that cannabinoid receptors can be activated by endo- and exogenous ligands, including synthetic ligands such as WIN 55, 212-2 (Pertwee et al., 2010).

1.4.2. Non-CB receptors

1.4.2.1. TRPV1

The transient receptor potential vanilloid type 1 (TRPV1) belongs to the transient receptor potential (TRP) superfamily and its natural ligand is capsaicin, the natural compound found in chili pepper (Caterina et al., 1997). TRPV1 is involved in temperature sensing, pain and nociception (Caterina et al., 2000). This receptor is primarily expressed in sensory neurons where it can be activated by stimuli such as temperature change (>43°C), acidity (pH<6.9), or various other toxins (Pertwee et al., 2010).

In sensory neurons, TRPV1 co-localizes with CB₁ and CB₂, making intracellular cross-talk between several types of receptor possible (Zou and Kumar, 2018). Although AEA is an agonist of CB₁ and CB₂, under certain condition (such as during synaptic transmission and pain regulation, when CB₁ is expressed at low levels), AEA can act as a full agonist for TRPV1 (Zou and Kumar, 2018). In addition, several other endocannabinoids such as noladin ether, virodhamine, *N*-arachidonoyl dopamine (NADA), but not 2-AG, can all act as full agonists of TRPV1 (Starowiczet al., 2007). Evidence also exists for endocannabinoid-like compounds such as OEA and CBD exerting full agonist activity upon interaction with TRPV1, where CBD binds to TPRV1 almost with the same K_i as with capsaicin (Bisogno et al., 2001). On the other hand, OEA activates TPRV1 and initiates vagal neurosensory nerves excitation in the nervous control of food intake, and also inhibits intracellular Ca²⁺ uptake in cells expressing TRPV1 (Thabuis et al., 2008). The interaction of TRPV1 with wider endocannabinoid and endocannabinoid-like compounds suggests its strong association with the ECS.

1.4.2.2. GPR55 and deorphanized GPRs

Both CB₁ and CB₂ belong to a family of Class A GPCRs and cannabinoid receptor agonists can therefore also act at other GPCRs, mainly deorphanized GPR55, GPR119, GPR3, GPR6, and GPR12 (Pertwee et al., 2010). Research is currently proposing that deorphanized GPCR is a third true cannabinoid receptor, with the most-likely candidate being GPR55 (Morales and Reggio, 2017) because it is targeted by wide variety of cannabinoids including endogenous, phytogenic, as well as synthetic cannabinoids (Pertwee et al., 2010). GPR55 is widely expressed in the brain and the peripheral site, with particularly high expression in the striatum; co-localising with CB₁ and CB₂ (Sawzdargo at al., 1999).

Although AEA targets both CB₁ and CB₂, with slightly higher affinity for CB₁ compared to CB₂, it has an even higher affinity for GPR55 compared to CB₁ (Ryberg et al., 2007). This study also demonstrated that 2-AG and THC are agonists for GPR55 while CBD is an antagonist (Ryberg et al., 2007). Despite being the target for many cannabinoid ligands, GPR55 displays low sequence identity to both CB₁ (13.5%) and CB₂ (14.4%) (Pertwee et al., 2010).

GPR3, GPR6, and GPR12 are three orphan Class A GPCRs that are mainly expressed in the CNS and involved in mediation of β -arrestin2 recruitment (Pertwee et al., 2010). They exhibit close phylogenetic relationship with cannabinoid receptors, melanocortin receptors (MCRs), lysophospholipid receptors, adenosine receptors (AR), and the GPR3/6/12 subset, forming the so-called MECA cluster (Uhlenbrock et al., 2002; Morales et al., 2018). Very little is known about their ligands. AEA and 2-AG display no significant activity at these orphan receptors, whereas CBD demonstrates activity at GPR3, GPR6 and GPR12 (Brown et al., 2017; Laun and Song, 2017). CBD acts as an inverse agonist to inhibit β -arrestin2 recruitment on GPR3, GPR6, and GPR12. This suggests that CBD may act as potential neuroprotective agent for Alzheimer's and Parkinson's disease by acting on these GPCRs (Brown et al., 2017; Laun and Song, 2017).

GPR119 is primarily expressed in the pancreatic and GI tract, and is involved in the regulation of insulin secretion (Soga et al., 2005). Although GPR119 is phylogenetically

related to cannabinoid receptors, it is only activated by fatty acid amides, including AEA, OEA and PEA, with OEA being the most efficacious (Overton et al., 2006). Despite GPR119 being closely related to cannabinoid receptors, only *N*-oleoyl dopamine and OEA display high affinity for GPR119 (Overton et al., 2006), and both of these ligands do not interact with CB₁ nor CB₂, thus GPR119 cannot yet be classified as part of the cannabinoid receptor family.

1.4.2.3. PPARs

Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPARs) are ligand-activated transcription factors belonging to the nuclear hormone receptor superfamily, all sharing close structural homology (Tsai and O'Malley, 1994). In mammals, PPARs exist in three isoforms (α , β/δ , and γ). PPARs were first identified in 1990 and are associated with the regulation of diverse physiological and pathophysiological processes, notably lipid and glucose metabolism, inflammation, cell differentiation, and energy homeostasis (Issemann and Green, 1990; Cooper, 2000; Grygiel-Górniak, 2014).

In the nucleus, inactivated PPAR is associated to a co-repressor. The classic pathway through which PPAR activation occurs is through the formation of heterodimer complex with another nuclear hormone receptor, the retinoid X-receptor (RXR) (Grygiel-Górniak, 2014). The ligand then binds to this heterodimer, causing a conformational change in the PPAR structure and dissociation of the co-repressor and the recruitment of co-activator, simultaneously (Grygiel-Górniak, 2014). Activation and suppression of PPAR is modulated depending on the specific ligand binding to PPAR-RXR heterodimer as the exchange of co-repressor and co-activator occurs (Figure 1.4) (Grygiel-Górniak, 2014). Activated PPAR complex binds to peroxisome proliferator-response elements (PPREs) located on the regulatory regions of the target genes and carries out mRNA transcription (Chinetti-Gbaguidi and Staels, 2009; Grygiel-Górniak, 2014).

PPARs have large ligand binding domains which can be activated by various types of lipophilic ligands including synthetic compounds and plant extracts (O'Sullivan, 2016). Cannabinoids can activate PPAR through a few mechanisms: 1) direct binding of cannabinoids to PPAR, 2) indirect binding through the conversion of cannabinoid into PPAR-active metabolites, or 3) activation of cannabinoid cell surface membrane receptor which results in PPAR activation through, yet, an unclear cell signaling cascade (O'Sullivan, 2007).

Another possible activation mechanism suggested the active translocation of cannabinoids to the nucleus by intracellular fatty acid binding proteins (FABPs) (O'Sullivan, 2007).



Figure 1.4: Schematic representation of the PPAR structure and its transcription mechanism (Grygiel-Górniak, 2014). PPAR activation occurs through initial binding of the ligand and heterodimerization with RXR, resulting in a conformational change, where the co-repressor is exchanged with the recruitment of a co-activator. This active PPAR transcription complex then binds to the DNA response element, the PPRE, located in the promoter region, and thus regulates transcription of the target gene.

Ligands binding to FABPs have been shown to promote nuclear localization and PPAR interaction (Kaczocha et al., 2012; Hughes et al., 2015). Specifically, binding to FABP1 and FABP2 promotes nuclear localization and the activation of PPAR α (Hughes et al., 2015). Conversely, FABP5 acts as an intracellular carrier mediating the nuclear translocation of OEA and reduces PPAR α activation (Kaczocha et al., 2012). In addition, localization of AEA from plasma membrane to FAAH (for hydrolysis) was shown to be transported by FABP5 and FABP7 (Kaczocha et al., 2009). This catabolism was found to be inhibited by THC and CBD as the phytocannabinoids competed for FABP (Elmes et al., 2015).

The endogenous PPAR activators are a wide class of bioactive lipids which include endocannabinoids, phytocannabinoid, and synthetic cannabinoid ligands (O'Sullivan, 2016). AEA can activate PPAR α and this induces neuroprotective properties (Sun et al., 2007). Similarly, 2-AG can activate PPAR α , independent of CB₁ and CB₂ (Kozak et al., 2002). There is also strong evidence that OEA and PEA act as PPAR agonists, specifically activating PPAR α which affects various physiological and pathophysiological functions, notably feeding and anti-inflammatory pain (Suardíaz et al., 2007; O'Sullivan, 2016). Apart from PPAR α activation, although with less evidence, studies have also shown that OEA, PEA, AEA and 2-AG are able to activate PPAR γ (O'Sullivan, 2016).

The phytocannabinoids and their derivatives, including THC and CBD, do not bind to PPAR α but rather activate PPAR γ (O'Sullivan, 2016). Synthetic cannabinoids,

Thiazolidinedione (glitazones) compounds, a family of drugs used for Type 2 diabetes treatment, are also common PPAR γ agonists, particularly Rosiglitazone, which has high affinity and specificity for this PPAR (Lehmann et al., 1995).

Only the break down products of endocannabinoids, especially of the NAEs, have been found to act as natural agonists of PPAR β/δ . For example, arachidonic acid (AA) from AEA (Yu et al., 2014), and oleamide derived from OEA (Dionisi et al., 2012), bind and increase transcriptional activity of PPAR β/δ (O'Sullivan, 2016). However, a synthetic agonist has been chemically produced (GW0742) which selectively binds to PPAR β/δ (Sznaidman et al. 2003) and which was used in the current study.

PPAR activation can therefore be achieved with phytocannabinoids, endocannabinoids and their derivatives, and synthetic endocannabinoid-like compounds.

1.5. Evidence for an endocannabinoid system in singled cell eukaryotes

The first suggestions for the existence of an ECS in single celled organisms were made in the 1970's. Bram (1976) first showed that THC and cannabinol affected the cell morphology of the slime mould *Dictyostelium discoideum*, with cells becoming round and immobile. Cells recovered within a few hours (time not stated) after THC treatment but not with cannabinol. In the same year, McClean and Zimmerman (1976) showed that THC caused the cells of the ciliate *Tetrahymena pyriformis* to become round and move in a sluggish manner; once again recovering after some hours (time not stated). THC also caused a delay in cell division in this ciliate, which was dose dependent, and with cells being most sensitive in their G₂ phase of cell division (Zimmerman et al., 1981).

Pringle et al. (1979) found that THC reduced the population growth of the amoeba-flagellate *Naegleria fowleri* and prevented transformation of trophozoites into cysts or flagellates, but there was no effect on cell shape and movement. A reduction in population growth was also reported for three other amoebae, *Acanthamoeba castellanii, Vermamoeba (Hartmannella) vermiformis, and Willaertia magna* when treated with AEA and 2-O-acylglycerol (2-O-AG) (Dey et al., 2010). This study also showed that it was the cannabinoid itself, and not a breakdown product, that elicited this response with comparable population survival being achieved with 2-O-AG and 2-O-AG ether, a nonhydrolyzable analog of 2-O-AG. Whilst all four amoebae are in very different taxonomic groups (*N. fowleri* and *W. magna* are members

of the sub-phylum Percolozoa, while *V. vermiformis* and *A. castellanii* are members of the sub-phylum Lobosa), all were affected by cannabinoids in a similar manner.

This ability to perceive and response to exogenous endocannabinoids led to the search for *N*-acylethanolamines and their metabolic enzymes in these cells. NAEs were first identified in the yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* along with its phospholipid precursors NAPEs and biosynthesizing NAPE-PLD-like enzyme (Merkel et al., 2005). Then, a suite of endocannabinoids (particularly NAEs) were reported in *Tetrahymena thermophila* (Anagnostopoulos et al. 2010) and *D. discoideum* (Hayes et al., 2013). The hydrolyzing enzymes FAAH and MAGL were reported in more organisms, mainly protists, these included *D. discoideum, T. pyriformis, T. thermophila, Plasmodium falciparum*, and the yeast *S. cerevisiae* (Karava et al., 2001, 2005; McPartland et al., 2006; Evagorou et al., 2010).

Since most data available for the evidence of a presence of ECS in unicellular eukaryotes is in the ciliate *Tetrahymena*, it is worth investigating the system in this ciliate further.

1.6. The endocannabinoid system in the ciliate *Tetrahymena*

1.6.1. The endocannabinoid ligand

The presence of a suite of endocannabinoids has been found in the cells of *T. thermophila* (Anagnostopoulos et al., 2010). This study reported the presence of: 1) *N*-acylethanolamines (NAEs); 2) 2-acylglycerols (2-AcGs); and 3) Free fatty acids (FFAs).

The 6 main NAEs, in order of abundance, were N- γ -linolenoylethanolamine (**GLEA**), *N*-eicosenoylethanolamine (**EEA**), *N*-linoleoylethanolamine (**LEA**), *N*-palmitoylethanolamine (**PEA**), *N*-oleoylethanolamine (**OEA**) and *N*-stearoylethanolamine (**SEA**). A few other NAEs, including AEA, were also identified, but these were present at a very low concentration (Anagnostopoulos et al., 2010). Although GLEA is present at the highest concentration it is not common in nature (Anagnostopoulos et al., 2010). SEA is present at a very low concentrations compared to other NAEs in both the human and *Tetrahymena* systems (Anagnostopoulos et al., 2010; Kleberg at al., 2014). EEA can only be found in a traceable amount in the human milk and its specific function has not been characterised (Gaitán et al., 2018). LEA on the other hand, is more common and can be found primarily in the GI tract, alongside with PEA and OEA (Artmann et al., 2008) where all three NAEs exhibit similar anorexic and pharmacological functions, activating more or less at the same

receptors, mainly PPARs (α and γ) and TRPV1, and serving a crucial role in the regulation of food intake and anti-inflammatory effects (Kleberg et al., 2014).

2-AcGs corresponding to their respective NAE were 2-AcG: 2-γ-linolenoylglycerol (2-GLG), 2-eicosenoylglycerol (2-EG), 2-linoleoylglycerol (2-LG), 2-palmitoylglycerol (2-PG), and 2-oleoylglycerol (2-OG), but not 2-stearoylglycerol (2-SG). Again, 2-AG was also detected, but at much lower concentration compared to other 2-AcGs (Anagnostopoulos et al., 2010).

The free fatty acids arachidonic (AA), linoleic (LA), and γ -linolenic (GLA), were detected at sufficient concentrations, with GLA being dominant followed by LA and AA, whereas other FFAs (e.g. eicosapentaenoicacid [EPA] and docosahexaenoic [DHA]) were below the detection limit (Anagnostopoulos et al., 2010). FFAs predominated over 2-AGs and NAEs, by one to three orders of magnitude.

Anagnostopoulos et al. (2010) also tested for the substrate of FAAH enzymes using AEA, LEA, ALEA (N- α -linolenoylethanolamine, analog of LEA), and GHLEA (N- γ -homolinolenoylethanolamine, analog of GLEA). All NAEs were hydrolyzed by FAAH with the highest enzyme activity being evident with AEA, followed by LEA, ALEA and GHLEA. This suggests that AEA, although present at low abundance, is the best endogenous substrate for FAAH in *T. thermophila* (Anagnostopoulos et al., 2010).

Anagnostopoulos et al. (2010) also showed that there was a fluctuation of NAE, 2-AcG, and FFA concentrations at different cultivation temperatures; at higher temperature (33° C) NAEs significantly increased whereas FFAs and 2-AcGs decreased (Anagnostopoulos et al., 2010). Thus, it was suggested that NAEs may play a role in membrane fluidity and cellular protection in a changing environment as well as in food intake and development. The function of NAEs was not investigated further, however the authors stated that preliminary experiments showed that most NAEs affected the growth of *T. thermophila* (but no mention of positive/negative effects) (Anagnostopoulos et al., 2010).

1.6.2. Enzymes

The two main degrading enzymes, but not the synthesizing enzymes, of the endocannabinoid system have been reported to exist in *Tetrahymena.*, FAAH (the NAE hydrolase) was reported in both *T. pyriformis* (Karava et al., 2001, 2005) and *T. thermophila* (McPartland et

al., 2006), whereas, MAGL (the 2-AcG hydrolase) was reported in *T. thermophila* (McPartland et al., 2006; Evagorou et al., 2010).

1.6.2.1. FAAH

Karava et al. (2001) were the first to identify membrane-bound FAAH-like activity in *T. pyriformis*. The authors demonstrated that AEA was taken up by intact *T. pyriformis* cell and was rapidly metabolized to mixed free fatty acids comprising of phospholipids (PL) (70%), neutral lipids (NLs) (20%), and free AA (6%), in descending order of cytosolic concentration (Karava et al., 2001). The presence of AA at almost undetectable level in *T. pyriformis* correlated with the study of Anagnostopoulos et al. (2010). Amide hydrolysis activity was also detected in the culture medium where almost 80% of AEA was catalyzed to free AA. The amidohydrolase was found to be specific for AEA within the cell, but once secreted it could also hydrolyse NAEs other than AEA, e.g., OEA and PEA (Karava et al., 2001).

The optimum pH for the amide hydrolase in *T. pyriformis* was pH 9-10, which is similar to FAAH activity reported in variety of tissues and cell types (Karava et al., 2001; Wei et al., 2006). It is a serine hydrolase, which does not depend on Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} , or sulfhydryl group for its enzymatic activity on AEA (Karava et al., 2001& 2005); also similar to the FAAH in various mammalian tissues and cell lines (Desarnaud et al., 1995; Maccarrone et al., 1998; Karava et al., 2001). Moreover, Karava et al. (2005) revealed the presence of 2 isoforms of FAAH in *T. pyriformis*: a 66 kDa (non-microsomal fraction) and a 45 kDa (in the cytosol). Interestingly, the 66 kDa isoform is close in size to that reported for human and mammalian FAAH (63 or 67 kDa) (Giang and Cravatt, 1997; Maccarrone et al., 1998). The 45 kDa on the other hand, is close to the 46 kDa of amide hydrolase in invertebrates (Matias et al., 2001).

1.6.2.2. MAGL

Using Blast and phylogenetic tree comparisons of the human and ciliate genomes, MAGL, which catalyze the breakdown of 2-AG was believed to be present in *T. thermophila* (McPartland et al., 2006). Its presence was confirmed experimentally four years later when it was found to be involved in the catalysis of 2-AG and other 2-AcGs in *T. thermophila* (Evagorou et al., 2010). In mammalian systems, the catalysis of 2-AcG involves the action of both MAGL and FAAH (see section 1.3.2) and this was also recorded for *T. thermophila* (Evagorou et al., 2010). It was also shown that 2-AG hydrolysis was pH and temperature dependent, exhibiting optimum pH at 8-9 and 37-40 °C (Evagorou et al., 2010).

Two isoforms of MAGL were found in *T. thermophila*; cytosolic (40 kDa) and membranebound (45 kDa) with the activity of the latter being twofold higher than the former (Evagorou et al., 2010). Two isoforms of MAGL have also been reported for several cell types (Bisogno et al., 1997; Dinh et al. 2002a).

1.6.3. The potential endocannabinoid receptor in *Tetrahymena*

A study of functional orthologs of endocannabinoid proteins, by phylogenetic tree analysis and functional mapping, showed that the main endocannabinoids receptors CB_1 , CB_2 , TRPV1, and GPR55 were absent from *T. thermophila* (McPartland et al. 2006). However, there are a few suggested (lesser-known) targets that are known to interact with NAEs, which might be the targets in *T. thermophila* (Table 1.1). Those that the current study deemed promising to investigate were PPARs, GPR6, and the Dopamine receptor.

Table 1.1: A list of receptors known to interact with cannabinoids and their presence/absence in *Tetrahymena.* ^{*a*} Pertwee et al., 2010; ^{*b*} McPartland et al., 2006; ^{*c*} Kleberg et al., 2014; ^{*d*} Lampert et al., 2011; ^{*e*} Chisa et al., 1993; ^{*f*} Ciliate.org, 2019; ^{*g*} Ud-Daula et al., 2012; ^{*h*} De Duve and Baudhuin, 1966

Receptor	Binds NAEs	Binds other cannabinoids	Presence in <i>Tetrahymena</i>
CB1	AEA ^a	$2-AG^a$, CBD ^a , THC ^a .	No ^b
CB2		WIN55212 ^a	
TRPV1	$\begin{array}{l} AEA^{a,c}, OEA^{a,c}, \\ PEA^{a,c}, LEA^{a,c}, \\ SEA^{a,c} \end{array}$	CBD^a	No ^b
GPR55	AEA ^a	2-AG ^{<i>a</i>} , THC ^{<i>a</i>} , CBD ^{<i>a</i>}	No ^b
GPR119	AEA ^{<i>a,c</i>} , OEA ^{<i>a,c</i>} , PEA ^{<i>a,c</i>} , LEA ^{<i>a,c</i>} ,	No	Possibly - GPR119 mainly interact with acid amides
GPR3/6/12	AEA ^a	2-AG ^{<i>a</i>} , CBD ^{<i>a</i>}	Possibly - GPR6 was reported as chemo sensory receptor in T . <i>thermophila</i> ^d
Opoid	No ^{<i>a</i>}	CBD ^{<i>a</i>} , THC ^{<i>a</i>}	Yes - μ subunit ^e
Glycine	AEA ^a	2-AG ^{<i>a</i>} , THC ^{<i>a</i>} , CBD ^{<i>a</i>}	Possibly - essential in chemotaxis
Serotonin (5-HT)	AEA ^a	CBD ^{<i>a</i>}	Yes ^f
Dopamine	AEA ^a	CBD ^{<i>a</i>} , THC ^{<i>a</i>}	Yes - a present of at least D1 ^g
PPARs	$\begin{array}{l} \text{AEA}^{a,c}, \text{OEA}^{a,c}, \\ \text{PEA}^{a,c}, \text{LEA}^{a,c}, \\ \text{SEA}^{a,c} \end{array}$	2-AG ^{<i>a,c</i>} , CBD ^{<i>a,c</i>} , THC ^{<i>a,c</i>} , WIN55212 ^{<i>a</i>}	Possibly – A presence of peroxisomes h

1.6.3.1. The case of PPARs

In mammalian systems, endocannabinoids and most NAEs are known to interact with PPARs, acting as both agonists and antagonists (O'Sullivan, 2016). From the list of NAEs, within *T. thermophila* (Section 1.6.1), with the exception of GLEA and EEA, all can target at least one PPAR isoform (Kleberg at al., 2014; O'Sullivan, 2016). *T. pyriformis*, although not yet reported to have PPAR receptors, do possess peroxisomes (De Duve and Baudhuin, 1966; Ciliate.org, 2019). The peroxisomes contain at least 50 different enzymes for various biochemical pathways; however, they are mainly involved in the oxidation of fatty acids, regulating the lipids biosynthesis and the major source of metabolic energy (Cooper. 2000). The peroxisomes in *T. pyriformis* are tightly associated with the mitochondria where they play a crucial role in the oxidation of fatty acids during gluconeogenesis, providing major source of metabolic energy for the ciliates (Müller et al., 1968; Hogg, 1969; Blum, 1982). This is similar to the role of PPAR in mammalian systems, e.g. PPAR α activation by OEA results in lipid catabolism and homeostasis through the β -oxidation pathway. Thus, in the absence of the four main cannabinoid receptors, endogenous NAEs might target PPAR-like receptors in *Tetrahymena*.

1.6.3.2. The case for GPCRs

Another interesting receptor worth investigating is a G protein-coupled receptor (GPCR) because, 1) of their high percentage identical sequence homology to CB_1 and CB_2 , sharing the same superfamily of 7-transmembrane receptor (7-TMR) (Morales et al., 2018); and 2) they are a common target of many cannabinoids including NAEs (Pertwee et al., 2010).

GPR55, which interacts with many cannabinoids, has not been identified in any species of *Tetrahymena* (McPartland et al., 2006; Ciliate.org., 2019). However, homologues to GPR6 and GPR37 have recently been identified in *T. thermophila* (Lampert et al., 2011; Zou and Hennessey, 2017). Both act as chemosensory receptors, but GPR6 responds to chemoattractants (Lampert et al., 2011) while GPR37 responds to chemorepellents (Zou and Hennessey, 2017). In mammals, both GPR6 and GPR37 are expressed in the CNS, notably in the brain, co-localizing with cannabinoid receptors (Alavi et al., 2018) and both are important regulators of the dopaminergic system, with neuroprotective effects in Parkinson's disease (PD) (Alavi et al., 2018). Of the two, GPR6 is considered a potentially interesting

endocannabinoid target in *Tetrahymena* as it shares a high amino acids sequence identity (35%) with CB₁ and CB₂ (Lee et al., 2001).

Sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P) is the endogenous agonist of GPR6 in mammals (Uhlenbrock et al., 2002). However, further studies failed to observe specific S1P-induced responses in cells transfected with GPR6 (Yin et al., 2009). Thus, GPR6 is still considered an orphan receptor. Despite this, various endocannabinoids and phytocannabinoids have been tested for their capability to alter β -arrestin2 recruitment to GPR6 (Laun and Song, 2017). AEA and 2-AG demonstrated no significant effect at altering β -arrestin2 recruitment, while amongst the five phytocannabinoids tested, CBD significantly reduced β -arrestin2 recruitment in a concentration dependent manner. This suggests that CBD is a novel inverse agonist for GPR6 (Laun and Song, 2017). CBD has also been demonstrated to act on a variety of GCPRs. These include antagonising effects at CB₁ and CB₂ (with low affinity), GPR55, GPR18, inverse agonist at GPR3 (Laun and Song, 2017), and an agonist at Serotonin 5H1Ta (Bih et al., 2015). Nonetheless, as the presence of GPR6 (and possibly other GCPRs) has been confirmed in *Tetrahymena*, it may be possible that *Tetrahymena* elicits a response to cannabinoids through GCPRs in the absence of the four main receptors.

1.6.3.3. The case for a dopamine receptor

Dopamine is an essential neurotransmitter in the brain and is involved in many neuromodulatory roles, including the control of movement, memory and learning, cognitive, emotions, addiction and brain reward (Covey et al., 2017). Dopamine is predominantly expressed in the brain; however, it is also found in the peripheral nervous system where it functions as a local paracrine messenger (e.g. hormone) and is involved in the control of wide physiological and pathological processes (García et al., 2015).

Cannabinoids interact with the dopamine receptor both directly (Pandolfo et al., 2011) and also indirectly through the GABA pathway in which cannabinoid binding to the CB₁ receptor causes an increase in dopamine release from dopaminergic neurons (Garbutt, 1983). Under typical conditions, dopaminergic neurons are inhibited by the activation of GABA_B receptors (Figure 1.5A) (Oleson and Cheer, 2012). Consequently, during phasic dopamine events, such as when presented with a drug associated cue, intracellular Ca²⁺ abruptly rises, which results in the activation of endocannabinoid synthesizing enzymes (e.g. DAGL). This leads to the synthesis of endocannabinoids (e.g. 2-AG), which are released into the extra-synaptic cleft

where they couple to the $G_{i/o}$ of CB1 receptors on GABA presynaptic terminals and thus, GABA release is suppressed (Figure 1.5B) (Oleson and Cheer, 2012). Suppression of GABA disinhibits dopamine neurons, and at the same time promotes phasic dopamine events (Oleson and Cheer, 2012). The dopamine released then binds to dopamine receptor to elicit a response. Using these pathways, the endocannabinoids are able to tune with synaptic inhibition and stimulation of dopamine (Casadio, et al., 2011).



Figure 1.5: Shows the indirect interactions of cannabinoids and dopamine through GABAergic and glutamatergic terminals on dopamine neuron (Oleson and Cheer, 2012). A) Under typical conditions, as GABA/glutamate is active, dopamine neurons are inhibited. B) Indirect interaction occurs during phasic dopamine events. Where phasic dopamine results in the synthesis of endocannabinoids. These cannabinoids then activate CB₁ on GABAergic terminals, suppressing GABA release and stops the inhibition of dopamine.

Dopamine was previously reported to be the major catecholamine in *T. pyriformis* (Nomura et al., 1998) and the presence of the D_1 receptor was confirmed in *T. thermophila* although they did not rule out the presence of a D_2 receptor (Ud-Daula et al., 2012). Thus, it is a worthy candidate for an endocannabinoid receptor in *Tetrahymena*.

1.7. Overall objectives and specific aims

Many studies have shown that the endocannabinoid system is involved in the regulation of many fundamental modulatory systems in both multi- and uni-cellular organisms (see sections 1.1–1.6). The ciliate *Tetrahymena* is a common model organism used in many biomedical studies due to its simplicity and availability of genome information (Ruehle et al., 2016). Moreover, there is evidence for its cells possessing a suite of cannabinoids and their metabolising enzymes (see sections 1.6.1 and 1.6.2); but its target receptor(s) is currently unknown. Therefore, this study investigated three potential cannabinoid target receptor(s) in *Tetrahymena pyriformis*.

The overall objective was to quantify and compare the lethal effect of selected PPAR agonists, OEA, PEA, AEA, CBD and two synthetic cannabinoids (GW0742 and Rosiglitazone), on *T. pyriformis* and to determine whether the response was elicited through a pathway involving PPARs, GCPRs and/or a dopamine receptor.

The specific aims were to:

- a. Compare the MIC, IC₅₀ and lethal doses of each agonist.
- b. Determine the longevity of the negative effect on ciliate cells.
- c. Using specific antagonists, to determine whether the blocking of certain receptors alleviated the negative effect of the agonists. Specifically, the following receptors/pathways were blocked:
 - i. PPAR α , PPAR β/δ and PPAR γ receptors
 - ii. Dopamine D₂ receptor
 - iii. GCPR pathway inhibitors:
 - i. Pertussis toxin (PTX) targets catalysis of ADP-ribosylation of $G\alpha_{i/o}$
 - ii. H89 a Protein Kinase A inhibitor

2. Materials and Methods

2.1 Organisms and Maintenance

2.1.1. Klebsiella aerogenes

The bacterium *Klebsiella aerogenes* (National Collection of Type Cultures [NCTC] 9528) was used as prey for the ciliate *Tetrahymena pyriformis* (Culture Collection of Algae and Protozoa [CCAP] 1630/1W). Streak plates of *K. aerogenes* were prepared on Lysogeny Broth (LB) agar plates (see Appendix 1) and incubated at 25°C for three days. Chalkley's medium (see Appendix 1) was poured onto two plates and the cells were scraped off into suspension using a sterile spreader. The bacterial suspension was stored at 4°C.

2.1.2. Tetrahymena pyriformis

The ciliate was routinely cultured in 500 ml of Chalkley's medium, supplemented with *ca*. 1-2 ml of the *K. aerogenes* suspension, and incubated at room temperature (23°C) for three days prior to experiments. On the day of an experiment, the *T. pyriformis* culture was concentrated by centrifuging sixteen 15 ml samples at 2000 rpm for 15 minutes. The 14 ml supernatants were carefully removed from each tube. The remaining 1 ml *T. pyriformis* concentrates were vortexed and combined into one tube.

2.2 Cell counts

2.2.1. T. pyriformis

The ciliate suspension was fixed with glutaraldehyde (0.5% v/v final concentration) and loaded into haemocytometers. The number of cells in 36 large squares was determined using a light microscope (40x magnification). The average number of cells/square was multiplied by 1×10^4 to yield cell concentration (cells/ml). Experiments only used cultures that contained at least 9×10^4 cells/ml.

2.2.2. K. aerogenes

The bacterial suspension was diluted ten-fold down to the 10^{-3} dilution, using sterile distilled water. Each was stained with 2-3 drops of the DNA stain 4', 6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) for 15-20 minutes. The stained sample, of a known volume (and known dilution) was captured on a 0.2 µm filter (Whatman, Micropore) using a vacuum pump. A slide was then prepared by (i) adding one drop of immersion oil to the slide and smearing it over the slide,

(ii) placing the filter on top (cells side up), (iii) adding a drop of oil to the center of the filter,(iv) applying a coverslip and (v) adding a final drop of oil.

The slide was viewed with an epifluorescence microscope using UV excitation (cells appear blue). The number of cells in randomly selected Whipple grids was determined until at least 400 cells had been counted. The average number of cells per Whipple grid was multiply by 23,068 (as the Whipple grid is 1/23068th the area of the filter), giving the average number of cells captured per filter. Knowing the volume filtered, and dilution used, the number of cells/ml of the undiluted bacterial suspension was deduced.

2.3 Experimental compounds

2.3.1. Agonists

Six agonists were employed in this study: *N*-oleoylethanolamine (OEA), *N*-palmitoylethanolamine (PEA), *N*-arachidonoylethanolamine (anandamide or AEA), cannabidiol (CBD), GW0742, and Rosiglitazone (all obtained from TOCRIS, Biotechne, UK). All were maintained as 10 mM stocks, except AEA which was at 14.4 mM, in ethanol, at -20°C. On the day of an experiment stock solutions were diluted to 10^{-1} and 10^{-2} (e.g. 5 µL of 10 mM stock into 45 µL Chalkley's medium for a 10^{-1} dilution). For experiments, a known volume of agonist was added to 200 µL of *T. pyriformis* to obtain the desired starting concentration (e.g. 3 µL of a 10^{-1} dilution of e.g. CBD was added to 200 µL of *T. pyriformis* suspension for a starting concentration of 15 µM).

2.3.2. Antagonists/blockers

Three types of antagonists/blockers were used in this study (Table 2.1). The first type targeted PPAR receptors, i.e., GW6471 (PPAR α blocker), GSK3787 (PPAR β/δ blocker) and T0070907 (PPAR γ blocker) (TOCRIS, Biotechne, UK). The second type, Haloperidol hydrochloride, (TOCRIS, Biotechne, UK) targeted the dopamine hormone receptor. The last type were G protein-coupled receptor pathway inhibitors, i.e., Pertussis toxin (PTX) (target catalysis of ADP-ribosylation of G $\alpha_{i/o}$) and H89 (Protein kinase A inhibitor) (TOCRIS, Biotechne, UK). All antagonists/blockers were maintained at 10 mM, in ethanol, at -20 °C, except for PTX stock which was at 100 µg/ml in distilled water and stored at 4 °C.

Blocker	Receptor Target
GW 6471	ΡΡΑRα
GSK 3787	ΡΡΑRβ/δ
T0070907	ΡΡΑRγ
Haloperidol	Dopamine
Pertussis toxin	$G lpha_{i/o}$
H89	Protein kinase A

 Table 2.1: A summary of the antagonists/blockers used in this study, together with their molecular target

2.4 Experiments

2.4.1. General response of *T. pyriformis* to an agonist, using CBD as an example

Triplicate samples of *T. pyriformis* (200 µL) were treated with CBD at 0 µM, 4 µM (IC₅₀ value) and 8 µM ($2 \times IC_{50}$ value) in the presence of 5×10^7 cells/ml of *K. aerogenes*. Tubes were incubated at room temperature (23 °C) for 72 hours. Samples were removed throughout the period, fixed with glutaraldehyde (0.5% v/v final conc.) and cells counted (see 2.2.1). Experiments were performed twice. The percentage cell survival in treated samples, compared to control, was determined for each time point, i.e. (number of treated cells at Tx/number of untreated cells at Tx) × 100, and plotted against time (h).

2.4.2. Determining the susceptibility of T. pyriformis to PPAR agonists – MIC and IC50

Triplicate samples of *T. pyriformis* (200 μ L) were treated with a range of concentrations of OEA, PEA, GW0742 and Rosiglitazone. Numerous experiments were performed and each included triplicate untreated samples which acted as Controls. Tubes were incubated at room temperature (23 °C) for 90 minutes after which each tube was fixed and cells counted (see section 2.2.1). The percentage survival in treated samples, compared to control, was determined and from this, the IC₅₀ and Minimum Inhibitory Concentration (MIC) values were determined as follows:

2.4.2.1. Determining the IC₅₀

Percentage inhibition (100% minus calculated % survival) was plotted against Log_{10} agonist concentration in QtiPlot. The Logistic function tool was used to provide information on the significance of the data (p-value), the IC₅₀ (concentration at which inhibition is half maximum) and the slope of the curve.

2.4.2.2. Determining the MIC

All data on the slope of the IC₅₀ curve were plotted in EXCEL as % survival vs agonist concentration. Linear regression analysis was applied and high/low points removed until the highest R^2 was achieved. The MIC (x) was then determined from the equation of the line (y = mx + c) when y = 100% survival.

2.4.3. Determining the lethal dose of PPAR agonists to T. pyriformis

Triplicate samples of *T. pyriformis* (200 μ L) were treated with a range of concentrations of OEA, PEA, GW0742 and Rosiglitazone; above those concentrations which gave an apparent 0% survival after 90 minutes (in 2.4.2). Numerous experiments were performed and each included triplicate untreated samples which acted as Controls. Tubes were incubated at room temperature (23 °C) for 72 hours after which the contents of each tube were examined with a light microscope (×40 magnification) for evidence of surviving cells. The lowest agonist concentration which resulted in 0% cell survival after 72 hours was considered to be the lethal dose.

2.4.4. Investigating potential molecular targets for agonists in T. pyriformis

Experiments were set up in the same way as described in 2.4.2, i.e. 90 minutes survival tests. The ciliate (in triplicate) was treated with the agonist (at its IC_{50} value) with and without pretreatment with a blocker. Controls containing blocker alone were also included. The percentage survival, compared to the control, was determined at 90 minutes.

All experiments employed three replicates and were normally repeated three times (n = 9). A one-way ANOVA compared all treatments and then a post-hoc Tukey test examined differences between % survival of the (i) agonist alone vs agonist and antagonist and, (ii) the antagonist alone vs agonist and antagonist.

2.4.4.1. PPAR receptor blocking

The action of three known PPAR agonists (OEA [PPAR α], GW0742 [PPAR β/δ] and Rosiglitazone [PPAR γ]) together with AEA and CBD (all at their IC₅₀ value) were examined in the presence and absence of three PPAR receptor antagonists (at 2 × IC₅₀ value). Each blocker was added to the ciliate culture for 10 minutes prior to adding the agonists. Controls containing blocker alone were also included. All experiments were performed three times.

2.4.4.2. Dopamine receptor blocking

The action of OEA (IC₅₀, 45 μ M) was examined in the presence/absence of Haloperidol (added 10 minutes prior to adding the OEA). A concentration of 90 μ M (2 × IC₅₀), and even 60 μ M, Haloperidol proved too toxic to the ciliates so this blocker was added at a concentration of 30 μ M (see section 3.4). Controls containing blocker alone were also included. This experiment was performed twice.

2.4.4.3. H89 and PTX

The action of OEA, AEA and CBD (at their IC_{50} values) was examined in the presence/absence of (i) H89 (at 10 μ M with a 30 minutes pre-incubation time) and (ii) PTX (at 100 ng/ml with a 5 hours pre-incubation time). Controls containing blocker alone were also included. This was a preliminary experiment and only performed once.

2.4.4.4. Dose-response

Any agonist found to be blocked by an antagonist was tested further for evidence of a dose response, i.e. agonist at IC₅₀ and blocker at 10 μ M, 1 μ M, 0.1 μ M, 0.01 μ M and 0.001 μ M. Controls of blocker alone and agonist alone were included. Experiments were repeated three times (with PPAR blockers) or once (with Haloperidol).

3. Results

3.1. General response of *T. pyriformis* to PPAR agonist, using CBD as example

The survival of *T. pyriformis* in the presence of 0 μ M (Control), 4 μ M (IC₅₀ value) and 8 μ M (2 × IC₅₀ value) CBD was monitored over a 72 hours period (at 23 °C) (Figure 3.1). The Control population size grew somewhat, due to the presence of *K. aerogenes* prey, hence % survival >100%. An immediate decline in cell survival was evident in CBD-treated cultures up until 90 minutes, after which no further decline was apparent (Figure 3.1a).



Figure 3.1: Percentage survival of *T. pyriformis* with 0, 4 and 8 μ M of CBD over 72 hours showing a) the first 4 hours and b) the full 72 hours. Error bars = SEM, n=6
Cell survival was dose dependent being *ca*. 60% (4 μ M CBD) and 0% (8 μ M CBD) at 90 minutes (Figure 3.1a). Therefore, a standard time of 90 minutes was used to test the survival of *T. pyriformis* in the presence of different concentrations of all agonists in this study.

A survival of 0% at 90 minutes (with 8 μ M) suggested that this concentration was lethal to the ciliate population. However, as seen in Figure 3.1b, the population recovered albeit not to the extent of the Control (even with 5 × 10⁷ *K. aerogenes*/ml present). This ciliate concentration was therefore below the detection limit for ciliate counts (278 cells/ml) at 90 minutes, leading to an apparent 0% survival. True lethality was therefore evaluated at 72 hours for all agonists in this study.

3.2. T. pyriformis susceptibility to PPAR agonists

To test whether *T. pyriformis* might possess PPAR receptors, its susceptibility to known PPAR agonists was first tested: OEA and PEA bind to PPAR α , GW0742 to PPAR β/δ and Rosiglitazone to PPAR γ . The ciliate was subjected to a range of agonist concentrations and % survival determined at 90 minutes (for IC₅₀, MIC and slope) and 72 hours (for lethal concentration).

T. pyriformis was susceptible to all four PPAR agonists and IC_{50} curves (Figure 3.2) showed a classic dose response. From these graphs the IC_{50} and slope were determined in QtiPlot (Table 3.1). Linear regression analysis of the Hill slope value (Appendix 2) was used to determine the MIC (Table 3.1) whilst survival over 72 hours was used to determine the lethal dose (Table 3.1).

All data are summarized in Table 3.1. This also includes previously determined data for the action of AEA and CBD at 90 minutes on the same *T. pyriformis* strain (under the same experimental conditions) (obtained from Shruthi Sivakumar and Ashley Jones, Lancaster University).





The MICs and IC₅₀ values suggest that the most potent agonist is AEA, followed by CBD, GW0742 and then OEA. Both PEA and Rosiglitazone, although eliciting a response in the ciliate, have parameter values much higher than those previously published for other cell types (see Section 4.3). For example, not even a concentration of 400 μ M PEA proved lethal to the ciliate. PEA and Rosiglitazone were removed from the study at this point. OEA was retained, even though 205 μ M was required to prove lethal to the ciliate.

		,				
	Agonists					
	AEA	OEA	PEA	GW0742	Rosiglitazone	CBD
MIC (µM)	1.17	18.49	55.11	8.95	103.69	3.16
IC50 (µM)	3.78	46.78	180.39	11.88	181.08	4.38
Hill Slope	3.21	7.86	5.28	9.27	5.69	8.11
Lethal concentration (uM)	35	205	>400	30	210	40

Table 3.1: The MIC, IC_{50} , slope of the IC_{50} curve and lethal dose values for OEA, PEA, GW0742, Rosiglitazone (PPAR agonists) with *T. pyriformis*. Data for AEA and CBD included (obtained from Shruthi Sivakumar and Ashley Jones, Lancaster University).

3.3. PPAR receptors as potential targets for agonists in *T. pyriformis*

To further evaluate whether *T. pyriformis* might possess PPAR-like receptors, 90 minute survival experiments were performed in the presence of OEA, GW0742, AEA and CBD with/without a 10 minute pre-incubation of the ciliate with each of three specific PPAR-receptor antagonists: GW 6471 (PPAR α blocker), GSK 3787 (PPAR β/δ blocker), and T0070907 (PPAR γ blocker [T007]). Initial experiments used each blocker at a concentration twice that of the agonist's IC₅₀. Then, if a blocking of the negative effect of the agonist was recorded, the antagonist was tested at concentrations of 10, 1, 0.1, 0.01 and 0.001 µM.

3.3.1. OEA

OEA was tested at its IC₅₀ of 45 µM and antagonists at 90 µM. In the presence of OEA (Figure 3.3, hatched bars), the survival of *T. pyriformis* in the absence of blockers was 37.82 \pm 12.44%, which was significantly different to the untreated control (Figure 3.3, 0 µM, solid bar) (P = 0.001). Pre-incubation with each blocker alone had no significant negative effect, compared to the control (P = 0.22 - 0.90), and did not alleviate the negative effect of OEA. The % survival value with GSK3787 [β/δ] was not significantly different to OEA alone (P = 0.90) but values were significantly lower than OEA alone with GW6471 [α] and T007 [γ] (P = 0.023 and 0.007, respectively). No dose-response experiment was carried out.



Figure 3.3: Percentage cell survival of *T. pyriformis* in the presence of 45 μ M OEA (hatched bars) with and without pre-incubation with 90 μ M of each PPAR receptor blocker, GW6471 (PPAR α), GSK3787 (PPAR β / δ) and T007 (PPAR γ). Solid bars denote % survival in the absence of OEA with/without each blocker. Error bars = SEM, n = 9. ^ Significantly different (P < 0.05) to blocker alone. *significantly different to OEA alone (P < 0.05).

3.3.2. GW0742

GW0742 was tested at 15 μ M and antagonists at 30 μ M. In the presence of GW0742 (Figure 3.4, hatched bars), the survival of *T. pyriformis* in the absence of blockers was 52 ± 11%, which was significantly different to the untreated control (Figure 3.4, 0 μ M solid bar) (P = 0.001). Pre-incubation with each blocker alone had no significant negative effect, compared to the control (P = 0.20 - 0.90), but totally alleviated the negative effect of GW0742 with % survival in their presence being equivalent to the control (P = 0.36 - 0.9) and significantly higher than GW0742 alone (P = 0.001 in all cases).



Each blocker was further tested at concentrations ranging from 10 to 0.001 μ M (Figure 3.5).

The PPAR α blocker GW6471 completely alleviated the negative effect of GW0742 at 10 μ M, i.e. 100% survival, where GW0742 with blocker was not significantly different to blocker alone, only GW0742 alone (Figure 3.5a*). No blocking effect was seen at 1 μ M and lower, suggesting an MIC of >1<10 μ M and that any dose-response might have been expected within these concentrations.



Figure 3.5: Percentage survival of *T. pyriformis* in the presence of GW0742 (hatched bars), with and without pre-incubation with each PPAR receptor blocker (10 to 0.001 μ M): a) GW6471 (PPAR α), b) GSK3787 (PPAR β/δ) and c) T007 (PPAR γ). Solid bars denote % survival in the absence of GW0742 with/without each blocker. Error bars = SEM, n = 9. *significantly different (P < 0.05) to GW0742 alone. ^significantly different (P < 0.05) to blocker alone.

The PPAR β blocker GSK3787 and the PPAR γ blocker T007 data completely alleviated the negative effect of GW0742 at 10 and 1 μ M (Figure 3.5b-c*). No blocking effect was seen at 0.1 μ M and lower, suggesting an MIC of >0.1<1 μ M in both cases and that any dose-response might have been expected within these concentrations.

3.3.3. AEA

AEA was tested at 4 μ M and antagonists at 8 μ M. In the presence of AEA (Figure 3.6, hatched bars), the survival of *T. pyriformis* in the absence of blockers was 61.06 ± 0.71%, which was significantly different to the untreated control (Figure 3.6, 0 μ M solid bar) (P = 7.4 × 10⁻⁸). Pre-incubation with each blocker significantly alleviated the negative effect of AEA; % survival values (with blocker) were significantly different to AEA alone (P = 0.001 in all cases) and % survival (with AEA) were not significantly different to those in the presence of blocker alone (P = 0.09 - 0.31).



Figure 3.6: Percentage cell survival of *T. pyriformis* in the presence of 4 μ M AEA (hatched bars) with and without pre-incubation with 8 μ M of each PPAR receptor blocker, GW6471 (PPAR α), GSK3787 (PPAR β/δ) and T007 (PPAR γ). Solid bars denote % survival in the absence of AEA with/without each blocker. Error bars = SEM, n = 9. *Significantly different (P < 0.05) to AEA alone (no tests were significantly different to blocker alone).



Figure 3.7: Percentage survival of *T. pyriformis* in the presence of AEA (hatched bars), with and without pre-incubation with each PPAR receptor blocker (10 to 0.001 μ M): a) GW6471 (PPAR α), b) GSK3787 (PPAR β / δ) and c) T007 (PPAR γ). Solid bars denote % survival in the absence of AEA with/without each blocker. Error bars = SEM, n = 9. *Significantly different (P < 0.05) to AEA alone. ^Significantly different (P < 0.05) to blocker alone.

The PPAR β blocker GSK3787 and the PPAR γ blocker T007 data completely alleviated the negative effect of AEA at 10 and 1 μ M (Figure 3.7b-c*). No blocking effect was seen at 0.1 μ M and lower, suggesting an MIC of >0.1<1 μ M in both cases and that any dose-response might have been expected within these concentrations.

The PPAR α blocker GW6471 completely alleviated the negative effect of AEA at 10, 1 and 0.1 μ M, i.e. 100% survival, where AEA with blocker was not significantly different to blocker alone (Figure 3.7a); suggesting an MIC >0.01<0.1 μ M. However, only at 1 and 10 μ M was % survival with AEA and blocker significantly different to AEA alone (Figure 3.7a*); suggesting an MIC of >0.1<1 μ M. It is therefore difficult to conclude what the real MIC would be in this case and it lies somewhere between 0.01 and 1 μ M.

3.3.4. CBD

CBD was tested at 4 μ M and antagonists at 8 μ M. In the presence of CBD (Figure 3.8a, hatched bars), the survival of *T. pyriformis* in the absence of blockers was 43.14 ± 8.39%, which was significantly different to the untreated control (Figure 3.8a, 0 μ M solid bar) (P = 0.0003). Only pre-incubation with GW6471 (PPAR α receptor blocker) alleviated the negative effect of CBD and the % survival value (with GW6471) was significantly different to CBD alone (P = 0.001). A concentration of 8 μ M GW6471 (with CBD) yielded a % survival value that was not significantly different to that in the presence of GW6471 alone (P = 0.90).

In the dose response experiments (Figure 3.8b) the blocker completely alleviated the negative effect of CBD at 1 and 10 μ M, i.e. 100% survival, where CBD with blocker was not significantly different to blocker alone, only CBD alone (Figure 3.8b*). No blocking effect was seen at 0.1 μ M and lower, suggesting an MIC of >0.1<1 μ M and that any dose-response might have been expected within these concentrations.



Figure 3.8: Percentage survival of *T. pyriformis* in the presence of CBD (hatched bars), with and without pre-incubation with a) GW6471 (α), GSK3787 (β/δ) and T007 (γ) at 8 μ M and b) GW6471 (α) at 10 to 0.001 μ M. Solid bars denote % survival in the absence of CBD with/without each blocker. Error bars = SEM, n = 9. * Significantly different (P < 0.01) to CBD alone. ^ Significantly different (P < 0.01) to blocker alone.

3.3.5. Summary

Table 3.2 summarizes the concentrations of antagonists required to elicit a positive alleviation of an agonist's effect on *T. pyriformis* (MIC) and that required to completely alleviate its action (100% block). Evidence for the existence of all three PPAR receptor types in *T. pyriformis* was obtained with GW0742 and AEA responding to the blocking of all three. The action of GSK3787 (β/δ) against these agonists was remarkably similar to that of T007 (γ) (Table 3.2) but variations existed with regards to their response to blocking with GW6471

(α); AEA was more sensitive to the blocking (Table 3.2). The action of CBD was only blocked with GW6471 (α) at a comparable MIC to that of AEA.

Table 3.2: A summary of the range of Minimum Inhibitory Concentrations (MIC, μ M) of each PPAR antagonist with each agonist and the concentration (100% block, μ M) of antagonist required to completely alleviate the negative action of the agonist on *T. pyriformis*.

Agonist	PPAR Antagonists (µM)					
	GW6471(a)		GSK3787(β/δ)		Τ0070907(γ)	
	MIC	100% block	MIC	100% block	MIC	100% block
OEA	-	-	-	-	-	-
CBD	>0.1<1	>0.1<1	-	-	-	-
GW0742	>1<10	>1<10	>0.1<1	>0.1<1	>0.1<1	>0.1<1
AEA	>0.01<1	>0.1<1	>0.1<1	>0.1<1	>0.1<1	>0.1<1

3.4. Dopamine receptor

The action of OEA (45 μ M) on *T. pyriformis* was examined in the presence/absence of Haloperidol (HPD) using standard 90 minutes survival experiments, as described in Section 3.3, with the caveat that because this was a preliminary experiment it was performed twice (in triplicate, n = 6). A concentration of 90 μ M HPD (2 × IC₅₀) proved too toxic to the ciliate (Figure 3.9), but at 60 μ M and below it was not. A concentration of 30 μ M was chosen to accompany the standard dose response concentrations of 10 to 0.001 μ M.



Figure 3.9: Preliminary experiment of the effect of HPD on *T. pyriformis*. Percentage survival of *T. pyriformis* in the presence of HPD alone and at concentrations 0-90 μ M. Error bars = SEM, n = 3. *Significantly different (P < 0.05) to 0 μ M HPD.

The presence of HPD enhanced the negative effect of OEA (Figure 3.10). This was significant for concentrations of 30, 10, 1 and 0.1 μ M HPD whilst concentrations of 0.01 and 0.001 μ M HPD had no effect. This relationship was not investigated further.



3.5. G protein-coupled receptor

The action of OEA (45 μ M), AEA (4 μ M) and CBD (4 μ M) on *T. pyriformis* was examined in the presence/absence of H89 at 10 μ M (with a 30 minutes pre-incubation time) and PTX at 100 ng/ml (with a 5 hours pre-incubation time), using standard 90 minutes survival experiments (Section 3.3). This was a preliminary experiment and was only performed once (in triplicate, n = 3).

The presence of H89 did not significantly alleviate the negative effect of any agonist (Figure 3.11) and % survival with agonist plus H89 was always significantly lower than with H89 alone. PTX alleviated the negative effect of OEA only, yielding a significantly higher survival compared to OEA only (P = 0.005) but still being significantly less than with PTX

alone (P = 0.014); so not completely alleviated. PTX had no significant effect on the action of CBD and AEA.



3.6. Summary of results

Table 3.3: Summary of the effect of blockers on the survival of *T. pyriformis* in the presence of cannabinoids and PPAR agonists.

Agonists	PPAR			Haloperidol	РТХ	H89
	α	β/δ	γ			
OEA	Negative	No effect	Negative	Negative	Positive	No effect
CBD	Positive	No effect	No effect	N/A	No effect	No effect
AEA	Positive	Positive	Positive	N/A	No effect	No effect
GW0742	Positive	Positive	Positive	N/A	N/A	N/A

4. Discussion

4.1. Summary of major findings

The aim of this study was to investigate the effect of six cannabinoids/ligands on *T*. *pyriformis* and whether this involved peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPARs), G protein-coupled receptor (GPCRs), and/or a dopamine receptor. Firstly, the lethal effect of the ligands was determined through four parameters 1) MIC, 2) IC₅₀, 3) Hill slope value, and 4) lethal concentration (Table 3.1). Results suggest that *T. pyriformis* was most susceptible to AEA, followed by CBD, then GW0742, then OEA. PEA and Rosiglitazone proved to be less lethal to *T. pyriformis* and were thus, eliminated from the study. As for the other cannabinoids, the slope values suggested that OEA and CBD behave similarly and might bind to the same target, whereas AEA and GW0742 might each bind a distinct target.

The study then went on to determine the ligands' target, whether PPAR, GPCR, and/or a dopamine receptor, using specific blockers to inhibit these receptors (Table 3.3). Haloperidol (Dopamine blocker) and H89 (PKA blocker) demonstrated no blocking of the effect of any agonist. In contrast, PPAR blockers alleviated the negative effects of AEA, CBD, and GW0742, but not OEA. Results suggested that AEA and GW0742 could interact with all three PPAR types (α , β/δ , and γ) whereas CBD only interacted with PPAR α . In the presence of Pertussis toxin (G $\alpha_{i/o}$ blocker) only the effect of OEA was alleviated. This suggests that the ciliate might have at least two pathways for responding to these ligands; CBD, AEA and GW0742 might use a PPAR-like pathway, while OEA targets GPCRs.

4.2. Lethal effect of cannabinoids on protists

Taking CBD as an example, the ciliate population reduced to 60% (compared to the control) with 4 μ M CBD, and to '0%' with 8 μ M CBD, in the first 90 minutes. After this the 4 μ M-treated population density remained stable while that of the 8 μ M-treated population gradually increased, indicating that not all the cells in that population had been killed and that the population had been below the limit of detection at 90 minutes. The concentration of CBD found to be lethal to the whole population was 40 μ M.

Previous studies have also shown that cannabinoids are toxic to protists and that the negative effect can be short-term. The treatment of *T. pyriformis* with THC elicited a dose dependent response (between $3.2 - 24 \mu M$) with the cells showing a change in shape, having sluggish

movement and a decreased level of cellular growth and division (McClean & Zimmerman, 1976). However, even at the highest concentration (24 μ M THC) this only caused an 11% reduction in cell concentration after 16 hours growth, suggesting that the IC₅₀ is higher than 24 μ M (McClean & Zimmerman, 1976). Comparing this to the current study suggests that *T. pyriformis* is more susceptible to CBD (IC₅₀, 4.38 μ M) than THC. The toxic effect on *T. pyriformis* was also transient in both studies. In the current study, cells appeared to be in recovery by 10 hours, whereas in the study of McClean & Zimmerman (1976) cells recovered after 'several hours', although the actual time period was not stated.

THC has also been reported to inhibit the growth in several amoebae. At 60 μ M THC cells of the slime mould *Dictyostelium discoideum*, which has an amoeboid form in its growth cycle, became round and immobile but after a 'few hours' (time not stated) they fully recovered (Bram and Brachet, 1976). However, at 50 μ M of Cannabinol, cells rounded up but they did not recover, suggesting different effects depending on the cannabinoid used (Bram and Brachet, 1976). Even so, *D. discoideum* appears less sensitive to cannabinoids than *T. pyriformis*.

With the amoeba-flagellate *Naegleria fowleri*, the presence of phytocannabinoids prevented enflagellation and encystment but movement remained the same (Pringle et al., 1979). Three days exposure in the presence of 5 μ g/mL (16 μ M) THC and CBD resulted in populations which were 54% and 27% that of the control, respectively, suggesting that the IC₅₀ of THC was *ca*. 16 μ M while that of CBD was <16 μ M (Pringle et al., 1979). This once again suggests that CBD is more toxic than THC and that *T. pyriformis* is more sensitive to CBD than these amoebae.

The endocannabinoid AEA has also been shown to inhibit growth of three other species of amoebae: *Vermamoeba (Hartmannella) vermiformis, Acanthamoeba castellanii,* and *Willaertia magna* with IC₅₀ values (determined after 3 days exposure) of 14 μ M, 17 μ M, and 20 μ M, respectively (Dey et al., 2010). In the current study, the IC₅₀ of AEA was only 4 μ M, once again showing a higher level of susceptibility in *T. pyriformis*, compared to amoebae.

4.3. Lethal effect of cannabinoids on cancer cells

Cannabinoids are considered to act more specifically to cancer cells than normal cells and much work has examined their effect on human cancerous cells (Ryberg et al. 2007; Chakravarti et al., 2014; Almada et al., 2017; Scott et al., 2017). The lung carcinoma cell line (A549) can be killed by THC at concentrations of 32 μ M (IC₅₀ of 24 μ M) (Sarafian et al., 2002). Human leukemia cancer cell lines CEM and HL60 are more sensitive. When these cells were treated with THC, CBD and cannabigerol (CBG) the IC₅₀ values for CEM cells were 13 μ M, 8 μ M, 11 μ M for THC, CBD, and CBG, respectively while values for HL60 were slightly higher at 15 μ M, 12 μ M, 16 μ M, respectively (Scott et al., 2017). In both cell types, CBD shown to be more toxic than THC; a similar response to that observed in amoebae (Pringle et al., 1979).

In human glioma cells, 10 μ M CBD was the non-inhibitory value for growth while 25 μ M CBD was 'inhibitory' suggesting an MIC >10<25 μ M (Massi et al., 2006). Induction of apoptosis was via upregulation of caspase-3 activity which ultimately causes apoptotic mediated cell death (Massi et al., 2006). Human prostate carcinoma cells (PC-3, DU-145, 22RVI and LNCAP) appear to be more sensitive, being induced into apoptosis at CBD concentrations of 1 - 10 μ M (De Petrocellis et al., 2000). The same study found that lower concentrations (0.5 - 6 μ M) of AEA resulted in cell death; a similar response was observed with *T. pyriformis* exposed to AEA and CBD (MICs of 1.17 and 3.16 μ M, respectively). Interestingly, cell death with AEA was not due to apoptosis but was instead due to AEA inhibiting the G₁/S phase of cell division (De Petrocellis et al., 2000). Although comparable studies with AEA have not been performed with protists, it is interesting to note that the cells of *T. pyriformis* were most susceptible to THC during their G₂ phase of cell division (Zimmerman et al., 1981).

The observed inhibitory effects of cannabinoids on cancer cells mirror those observed with protists. For example, the following trends are shared by both: (i) CBD is more toxic than THC, (ii) AEA is more toxic than CBD, (iii) different cell types show differences in susceptibility and, (iv) cell death occurs with cannabinoid concentrations in the lower end of the μ M range. Since phylogenetic studies suggest that protists do not possess the main endocannabinoid receptors (McPartland et al., 2006), and cannabinoids can act upon mammalian cells without the need for receptors (Sanchez et al. 1998; De Pretrocellis et al.,

2000), it is intriguing to discover what their target is in protists and how this results in cell death.

4.4 Mechanisms of cell death in *Tetrahymena*

In the ciliate *T. thermophila*, programmed nuclear death (PND) mainly occurs during conjugation (sexual reproduction) and involves an apoptosis inducing factor (AIF), and endonuclease G (EndoG) in the mitochondria, resulting in macronucleus degeneration (Akematsu et al., 2012). Although *T. pyriformis* is not capable of sexual conjugation (Nanney, 1974) it might still possess the same PND mechanism as that exhibited by *T. thermophila*, which is similar to programmed cell death (PCD) in multicellular organisms. In mammalian cells, the macronucleus is degraded via chromatin condensation and DNA fragmentation with the help of AIF, EndoG and caspases (Akematsu et al., 2012). However, *T. thermophila* does not possess caspases (Eisen et al., 2006) and PND is considered to occur via a caspase-independent route involving either AIF or EndoG (Akematsu et al., 2012).

In a caspase independent pathway, many mitochondria move towards the parental macronucleus and AIF is released from their inter membrane space which is then translocated into the nucleus and results in nuclear condensation and large-scale DNA fragmentation (Akematsu et al., 2012). Electron microscopic studies have also revealed the presence of autophagosomes surrounding this degenerating macronucleus during *Tetrahymena* conjugation (Weiske-Benner and Eckert, 1987) suggesting that autophagy might play a direct role in PND in *Tetrahymena*.

Autophagy is a major degradative pathway which recycles cytoplasmic compartments by using the double membrane structure (the autophagosome) to fuse with the vacuole/lysosome (Yorimitsu and Klionsky 2005). Caco-2 cells have been shown to activate autophagosome arrangement between 4-6 hours after treatment with 10 μ M CBD while 25 μ M CBD led to over-expression of LC3-II protein which resulted in cell death (Koay et al., 2014). In protists, the degradative pathway can be upregulated by stress, with the main one being nutrient limitation. Under such conditions increased levels of autophagosomes have been recorded in both *Tetrahymena* (Nilsson, 1984; Zhang et al., 2015) and *D. discoideum* (King et al. 2011, Mesquita et al., 2013). This pro-survival characteristic of autophagy maintains tissue homeostasis and sustains cell viability under stressful conditions but when failing to restore

homeostasis, autophagy leads to cell death through the autophagic cell death (ACD) pathway (Levine & Kroemer, 2008). In *T. thermophila*, such autophagic cell death has been recorded in the presence of H_2O_2 , Oligomycin and vitamin K3 but the molecular basis that regulates this, especially the genes responsible, have not been identified (Zhang et al., 2015). However, this study did correlate enhanced autophagic cell death to an accumulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) resulting from possibly a blockage of mitochondrial electron transport (Zhang et al., 2015).

Components of the mitochondrial respiratory chain have been identified as molecular targets of cannabinoids (Bih et al., 2015). THC is a known inhibitor of NADH oxidase activity in mitochondria and above a threshold concentration (0.4 μ M THC), can deplete energy (ATP) levels in cells which can lead to cellular death (Bartova & Birmingham, 1979). Human lung cancer cells (H460) treated with THC, and indeed AEA, show a concentration dependent decrease in the mitochondrial oxygen consumption with maximum effect at 20 μ M (Athanasiou et al., 2007). Studies have also shown that CBD modulates several cytochrome P450 enzymes (Usami et al., 2008).

Finally, THC, AEA and 2-AG can exert their effects on human cells through inhibition of adenyl cyclase activity (Koh et al., 1997; Pisanti et al., 2013). *Tetrahymena* have been shown to contain a novel adenyl cyclase ion channel fusion protein, localized to ciliary membranes through which cAMP formation is stimulated by an ion conductance (Weber et al., 2009). Therefore, inhibition of this adenylase cyclase activity at this site might explain the lowered cAMP levels in THC treated *T. pyriformis* (Zimmerman et al., 1981), the sluggish movement of *T. pyriformis* cells in the presence of THC (McClean & Zimmerman, 1976) and CBD (Parry, personal communication), and the loss of *T. thermophila*'s avoidance response to chemorepellents (Keedy et al. 2003).

There are therefore many mechanisms by which *Tetrahymena* cells can die and also many ways in which cannabinoids can induce such death. The current study primarily examined the possible involvement of PPARs on ciliate cell death, as their interaction with cannabinoids has been well characterized in human cells (Kleberg at al., 2014; Bih et al., 2015; O'Sullivan, 2016).

4.5. Involvement of receptors in cell death

The Hill slope (IC₅₀ slope factor) indicates the cooperativity/cooperative binding of the ligand. Cooperative binding occurs when binding of the first molecule (either identical or nearly identical) to a receptor changes the binding affinity for the second molecule, either positive or negative (Stefan and Le Nove`re, 2013). For example, the binding of one oxygen to the first hemoglobin's binding site increases the binding affinity (or also known as increase cooperativity) of oxygen to the three remaining binding sites (Stefan and Le Nove`re, 2013). In general, a Hill slope value of greater than 1 indicates positive cooperativity, whereas a value lesser than 1 indicates a negative cooperativity.

In this study, all agonists yielded positive slope values and so, all agonists induced a cooperative binding effect. OEA and CBD had similar slope values (7.86 and 8.11, respectively), suggesting they bind at a similar pace to the receptor, and might possess the same target(s) (Table 3.1). Although this might suggest that *T. pyriformis* possesses a PPAR α -like receptor, PEA (which also binds to PPAR α) did not behave similarly to OEA and its slope (5.28) was closer to that of Rosiglitazone (5.69) suggesting PEA and Rosiglitazone might share the same target(s) (Table 3.1). Thus, this suggests that there could be multiple targets for the endocannabinoid pathways in *T. pyriformis*.

4.5.1 PPARs

PPARs are mainly involved in the metabolism of fatty acids and carbohydrates, however, there is evidence that activation of PPARs is also involved in cell line proliferation and apoptosis (Stephen et al., 2004; Brunetti et al., 2019). Studies have shown that activation of PPARs can result in cytotoxic effects on various cancerous cell lines (Kim et al., 2007), and anticancer agents are being developed from this concept.

In the current study, all three PPARs were suggested to be involved in the mechanism by which AEA, CBD and GW0742, but not OEA caused cell death in the ciliate population. In the presence of GW6471 (PPAR α blocker), the negative effects of CBD, AEA and GW0742 were alleviated. However, GSK3787 (PPAR β / δ blocker) and T0070907 (PPAR γ blocker) were only able to block the effect of AEA and GW0742. These results bore no resemblance to the predictions made based on the IC₅₀ slope values.

These results also contradict those obtained from similar studies in mammalian cells (Pertwee et al., 2010; O'Sullivan, 2016). In these systems, OEA is reported to induce activation of all PPAR isoforms (O'Sullivan, 2016) but this was not recorded in the current study. AEA is also considered an agonist of PPAR α and PPAR γ , but not PPAR β/δ , with the potency (IC₅₀) of $10 - 30 \,\mu\text{M}$ and $8 - 10 \,\mu\text{M}$, respectively (Pertwee et al., 2010). In *T. pyriformis*, the action of AEA was 100% blocked at a much lower concentration ($\leq 1 \mu M$) and with all three blockers. The highly selective PPAR β/δ agonist (GW0742) is reported to interact with human PPAR β/δ , - α , and - γ , with EC₅₀ values of 0.001, 1.1, and 2 μ M, respectively (Sznaidman et al., 2003). The current study also found an interaction with the three PPAR types, with the effect of GW0742 being 100% blocked by all three antagonists, but the concentrations required were variable. GW0742 did not appear to be 'highly selective' for PPAR β/δ as the concentration required for 100% blocking was equivalent to that for PPAR γ ($\leq 1 \mu$ M), whereas $\leq 10 \mu$ M was required to block PPARa. Finally, CBD is reported to only activate PPAR γ in the mammalian system (O'Sullivan et al., 2009a), with an IC₅₀ of 5 μ M (O'Sullivan et al., 2009b), yet in the current study its activity was 100% blocked by only the PPAR α antagonist and at a lower concentration ($\leq 1 \mu M$).

Nonetheless, the results of the PPAR blocking study indicated that there was an alleviation of cell death in *T. pyriformis* by the PPAR antagonists and thus suggests that *T. pyriformis* either possesses, 1) all three PPAR isoforms, or 2) possibly one isoform which can bind all three agonist/antagonist types. To date, the three PPAR isoforms have only been reported in bony fish, mammals, birds, and amphibians (Zhou et al. 2015); not in invertebrates. This suggests that *T. pyriformis* might not possess all three, but a PPAR isoform that can bind all three agonists/antagonist types. PPARs are known to have a ligand-binding domain which is relatively spacious and promiscuous, binding a number of ligands at different sites (Itoh et al., 2008). It might be that even though all three agonists/antagonists can bind to this PPAR they bind at different sites. For example, CBD might bind at the site that is the same as GW6471 (the PPAR α blocker) but the other two blockers do not bind to this particular site and therefore do not interfere with the binding of CBD.

However the ligand binds, it can exert an effect through both PPAR-dependent (genomic) and PPAR-independent (non-genomic) mechanisms. The classical genomic mechanism involves PPAR interacting with the retinoid X-receptor (RXR) to form a heterodimer

followed by the activation of target gene transcription (Grygiel-Górniak, 2014). The nongenomic, and more rapid, mechanism involves ligand activation of PPARs that leads to the suppression of other gene expression by antagonizing transcription factors (Campand and Tafuri, 1997).

With regards to the latter, activation of PPAR α and γ has been shown to directly antagonize the NF- $\kappa\beta$ pathway in many types of cancer cells (Camp et al., 1999; Lau et al., 2002; Chandran et al. 2016; Morinishi et al. 2019). NF- κ B belongs to a highly conserved family of transcription factors which, when activated, rapidly translocate into the nucleus and induces the transcription of various cellular genes (Pahl, 1999). Ligand binding to PPAR α and γ has also been shown to inhibit of the activation, and nuclear translocation, of mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinases, leading to apoptosis in cancer cells (Chinetti et al., 1998; Su et al., 1999), with the main MAPKs being p42/p44 (ERK1/2) (Takedaet al., 2001; Chandran et al. 2016). ERK1 and ERK2 have been shown to be key mediators of signal transduction, transmitting signals from the cell surface to the nucleus in human cells (Lenormand et al. 1998; Volmat et al. 2001).

Considering protists are not known to possess RXR nor NF-κB, but *T. thermophila* possesses numerous MAPKs including putative ERK1/2 subfamily MAPKs (www.ciliate.org), it makes the latter a possible pathway by which cell death occurs in this protist.

In addition to affecting the NF- κ B and MAPK pathways, and inducing apoptosis, ligand binding to both PPAR α and γ has been shown to induce G₀/G₁ cell cycle arrest leading to the death of cancer cells by reducing the levels of various cell-cycle regulating cyclins, specifically cyclinD1, A and E (Aboud et al. 2013; Chandran et al. 2016). Although arrest at the G₀/G₁ phase is the most commonly reported, cell cycle arrest can occur at the G₁/S phase (De Petrocellis et al., 2000; Wakino et al. 2000).

The role of PPAR β/δ in cell death is controversial. Some studies have suggested that PPAR β/δ agonists and antagonists demonstrate anticancer effects (Zaveri et al., 2009), while others report that PPAR β/δ stimulate proliferation and suppress pro-apoptotic events in the development of colon, breast and prostate cancer (Stephen et al., 2004; Sertznig et al., 2007). Ligand activation of PPAR β/δ with GW0742 has also been shown to prevent cell cycle progression from G₁ to S phase in keratinocyte cells (Burdick et al., 2007).

PPARs are also involved in fatty acid oxidation and adipogenesis, which makes them important molecular targets in the treatment of obesity and diabetes (Grygiel-Górniak, 2014).

OEA is reported to induce activation of all PPAR isoforms in mammalian cells, with the highest affinity for PPAR α (O'Sullivan, 2016) but this was not recorded in the current study. Further research examined whether GCPRs and the Dopamine receptor might be involved in the action of OEA on *Tetrahymena* cells.

4.5.2 G protein-coupled receptor

GPCRs are members of the superfamily of 7-transmembrane receptors (7-TMR) (Morales et al., 2018) and can be blocked with the Pertussis toxin (PTX). PTX is derived from bacterium *Bordetella pertussis* and it acts by modifying the natural function of GCPRs, specifically catalyzing the ADP-ribosylation of a cysteine residue on the α -subunit of G_{i/o} (Reisine and Law, 1992). The subunit G α_i is not affected by PTX (Reisine and Law, 1992).

GPCRs are involved in many regulatory functions in humans such as growth, source of smell, taste, visual, behavioural, immune system and mood (Rosenbaum et al., 2009). Over 800 GPCRs have been identified as being specific to a particular function (Fredriksson et al., 2003). The ligands they bind range from light sensitive compounds, odours, pheromones, hormones, cannabinoids and even neurotransmitters (Rosenbaum et al., 2009), but even now some GPCR have unknown functions or unknown primary ligands, and are termed 'orphan' GPCRs. Since (i) GPCRs are involved in a wide array of regulatory functions, (ii) they can be activated by numerous ligands including cannabinoids, (iii) the main cannabinoid receptors CB₁ and CB₂ are both GCPRs (but are absent in *Tetrahymena*) and, (iv) homologues to GPR6 and GPR37 have recently been identified *T. thermophila* (Lampert et al., 2011; Zou and Hennessey, 2017), it seemed sensible to carry out a preliminary investigation to evaluate whether GCPRs might be the target for OEA in *Tetrahymena*.

Of the two GCPRs in *Tetrahymena*, GPR6 is considered a potential endocannabinoid as it shares a high amino acids sequence identity (35%) with CB_1 and CB_2 (Lee et al., 2001). CBD is considered to be an inverse agonist for GPR6 (Laun and Song, 2017) however, PTX had no effect on the interaction between CBD and *T. pyriformis* in the current study. Blocking with PTX also had no effect on the action of AEA, but this agrees with results for human cells

whereby AEA has not been shown to interact with GPR3, GPR6 and GPR12 (Brown et al., 2017). Conversely, PTX alleviated the negative action of OEA on *T. pyriformis* suggesting it employs a pathway involving GCPRs whereas CBD and AEA employ a pathway involving PPARs.

OEA can elicit a response in human cells via GPR119 which is phylogenetically related to cannabinoid receptors, and is only activated by fatty acid amides, including AEA, OEA and PEA, with OEA being the most efficacious (Overton et al., 2006). OEA binding to GPR119 leads to activation of adenylyl cyclase, increased production of cAMP, and enhanced Protein Kinase A (PKA) activity (Usdin et al., 1993). However, in the current study the blocking of PKA with H89 had no effect on OEA-induced death of the ciliate. This has also been observed in breast cancer cells, i.e., activation of GPR119 has been shown to reduce the growth of these cells and induced apoptosis by suppressing autophagosome formation but, this is not blocked with cAMP/PKA inhibitors (Im et al., 2018). The authors suggested that apoptosis induction and autophagy inhibition by a GPR119 agonist might be related to changes in cancer cell metabolism instead of canonical signaling pathway(s) of GRP119 because there was increased levels of lactate in the cells, due to glycolysis stimulation, which suppressed mitochondrial functioning (Im et al., 2018). Indeed, the fact that modulation of GPR119 is involved in glucose homeostasis in many cell types has led to the idea that GPR119 modulation might provide the basis for an anti-obesity and type 2 diabetes therapy (Overton et al., 2006).

Being a preliminary study, it is difficult to speculate further regarding the OEA pathway in *Tetrahymena* and further study is warranted.

4.5.3 Dopamine receptor

This study investigated this possibility of OEA using a pathway involving the dopamine receptor, using the well-established Dopamine blocker, Haloperidol (HPD). The result was unlike that seen with PPAR/GPCR blockers in that the presence of HDP alone proved toxic to the ciliate at concentrations above 60 μ M. A toxic effect has also been reported in RAW264.7 macrophage cells, but at a lower concentration (40 μ M HPD), whereby a cellular increase in nitric oxide and caspases 8 and 3 resulted in the modulation of apoptosis (da Cruz Jung et al., 2015). HPD has also been shown to promote ferroptosis in hepatocellular

carcinoma cells at concentrations as low as 10 μ M (Bai et al., 2017). Ferroptosis is a form of cell death, characterised by the accumulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), cell volume shrinking and increased mitochondrial membranes during oxidative stress metabolism. During ferroptosis, the iron-dependent accumulation of ROS induces the activation of ferroptosis through glutathione peroxidase 4 (GPX4) or glutathione (GSH) deficiency (Bai et al., 2017). Haloperidol promotes ferroptosis through binding to the Sigma 1 receptor (S1R), a protein modulator associated with a wide array of neurological diseases and increases iron accumulation and lipid peroxidation (Collina et al., 2013). S1R has not been reported in *Tetrahymena* to date and this ciliate appears to be less sensitive to HPD than mammalian cells.

When HPD was combined with OEA (45 μ M) there was a significant reduction in the ciliate population, compared to OEA alone; reducing it to ~21% (with 0.001 and 0.01 μ M HPD), ~17% (with 0.1 and 1 μ M HPD), and to ~15% and 1% in the presence of 10 μ M and 30 μ M HPD. This shows that HPD somehow enhanced the effect of OEA. This might suggest that there are multiple pathways involved, with possibly the activation of multiple binding targets by HPD.

Although Haloperidol has a high affinity for the D₂ receptor in mammalian cells ($K_i = 1.2$ nM), it can target other Dopamine subtypes including D₃, D₄, D₁ and D₅ with K_i of ~7, 2.3, ~80, and ~100 nM, respectively (Seeman and Van Tol, 1994; Ilyin et al., 1996). At the same time, HPD can also act on the Serotonin receptor and subtype-selective *N*-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) antagonist (Lynch and Gallagher, 1996). Only D₁ and NMDA (involved in chemotaxis and Ca²⁺ signaling) has been shown to be present in *Tetrahymena* to date (Nam et al., 2009; Ud-Daula et al., 2012). Since HPD was not specific to a particular dopamine receptor (or D₂ alone), and HPD-induced death might result in multiple death pathways future work is required needed to be conducted, with the use of more specific and separate blockers for dopamine and serotonin.

4.6 Conclusions

This study aimed to quantify and compare the lethal effect of selected PPAR agonists; OEA, PEA, AEA, CBD and two synthetic cannabinoids (GW0742 and Rosiglitazone) on *Tetrahymena pyriformis*. Results showed that the ciliate was most sensitive to AEA, followed

by CBD, GW0742 and OEA, with PEA and Rosiglitazone having little lethal effect. The MICs and IC_{50} values with *T. pyriformis* were of the same order as those concentrations required to elicit an effect in cancer cells. The effect on *T. pyriformis* was cell death, however, this was only observed for a 90 minutes period after which no net negative effect was recorded.

The study then aimed to determine whether the negative response was elicited through a pathway involving PPARs, GCPRs and/or a dopamine receptor. Results showed that the action of AEA, CBD and GW0742 utilized a PPAR pathway whilst OEA possibly utilizes a GCPR pathway.

Appendix I: Media Recipes

Chalkley's medium

Stock solution	
NaCl	2.0 g
KCl	0.08 g
CaCl ₂	0.12 g

Add 5ml of stock solution to 1L of distilled water. Autoclave at 121°C for 15 minutes.

LB agar

Distilled water	1 L
NaCl	10 g
Agar No.2	10 g
Tryptone	5 g
Yeast	15 g

Autoclave at 121°C for 15 minutes. Cool to 50°C before aseptically pouring onto plates.

Appendix II: Raw data









References

- Abu Aboud, O., Wettersten, H. and Weiss, R. (2013). Inhibition of PPARα Induces Cell Cycle Arrest and Apoptosis, and Synergizes with Glycolysis Inhibition in Kidney Cancer Cells. PLoS ONE, 8(8), p.e71115.
- Ahluwalia, J., Urban, L., Bevan, S. and Nagy, I. (2003). Anandamide regulates neuropeptide release from capsaicin-sensitive primary sensory neurons by activating both the cannabinoid 1 receptor and the vanilloid receptor 1 in vitro. European Journal of Neuroscience, 17(12), pp.2611-2618.
- Akematsu, T., Kobayashi, T., Osada, E., Fukuda, Y., Endoh, H. and Pearlman, R. (2012). Programmed nuclear death and its relation to apoptosis and autophagy during sexual reproduction in Tetrahymena thermophila. Japanese Journal of Protozoology, 45(1-2), pp.1-15.
- Alavi, M., Shamsizadeh, A., Azhdari-Zarmehri, H. and Roohbakhsh, A. (2018). Orphan G protein-coupled receptors: The role in CNS disorders. Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy, 98, pp.222-232.
- Almada, M., Fonseca, B. M., Amaral, C., Diniz-Da-Costa, M., Correia-Da-Silva, G., & Teixeira, N. (2017). Anandamide oxidative metabolism-induced endoplasmic reticulum stress and apoptosis. Apoptosis, 22(6), 816–826. doi: 10.1007/s10495-017-1356-4.
- Anagnostopoulos, D., Rakiec, C., Wood, J., Pandarinathan, L., Zvonok, N., Makriyannis, A. and Siafaka-Kapadai, A. (2010). Identification of Endocannabinoids and Related N-Acylethanolamines in Tetrahymena. A New Class of Compounds for Tetrahymena. Protist, 161(3), pp.452-465.
- Andersson, M., Usiello, A., Borgkvist, A., Pozzi, L., Dominguez, C., Fienburg, A., Svenningsson, P., Fredholm, B., Borrelli, E., Greengard, P. and Fisone, G. (2005).
 Cannabinoid Action Depends on Phosphorylation of Dopamine- and cAMP-Regulated Phosphoprotein of 32 kDa at the Protein Kinase A Site in Striatal Projection Neurons. Journal of Neuroscience, 25(37), pp.8432-8438.
- Artmann, A., Petersen, G., Hellgren, L., Boberg, J., Skonberg, C., Nellemann, C., Hansen, S. and Hansen, H. (2008). Influence of dietary fatty acids on endocannabinoid and Nacylethanolamine levels in rat brain, liver and small intestine. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids, 1781(4), pp.200-212.
- Bai, T., Wang, S., Zhao, Y., Zhu, R., Wang, W. and Sun, Y., 2017. Haloperidol, a sigma receptor 1 antagonist, promotes ferroptosis in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 491(4), pp.919-925.
- Bih, C. I., Chen, T., Nunn, A., Bazelot, M., Dallas, M. and Whalley, B. (2015). Molecular Targets of Cannabidiol in Neurological Disorders. Neurotherapeutics, 12(4), pp.699-730.

- Bisogno, T., Hanuš, L., De Petrocellis, L., Tchilibon, S., Ponde, D., Brandi, I., Moriello, A., Davis, J., Mechoulam, R. and Di Marzo, V. (2001). Molecular targets for cannabidiol and its synthetic analogues: effect on vanilloid VR1 receptors and on the cellular uptake and enzymatic hydrolysis of anandamide. British Journal of Pharmacology, 134(4), pp.845-852.
- Bisogno, T., Sepe, N., Melck, D., Maurelli, S., Petrocellis, L. and Di Marzo, V. (1997).
 Biosynthesis, release and degradation of the novel endogenous cannabimimetic metabolite
 2-arachidonoylglycerol in mouse neuroblastoma cells. Biochemical Journal, 322(2), pp.671-677.
- Blankman, J., Simon, G. and Cravatt, B. (2007). A Comprehensive Profile of Brain Enzymes that Hydrolyze the Endocannabinoid 2-Arachidonoylglycerol. Chemistry & Biology, 14(12), pp.1347-1356.
- Blázquez, C., Chiarlone, A., Sagredo, O., Aguado, T., Pazos, M., Resel, E., Palazuelos, J.,
 Julien, B., Salazar, M., Börner, C., Benito, C., Carrasco, C., Diez-Zaera, M., Paoletti, P.,
 Díaz-Hernández, M., Ruiz, C., Sendtner, M., Lucas, J., de Yébenes, J., Marsicano, G.,
 Monory, K., Lutz, B., Romero, J., Alberch, J., Ginés, S., Kraus, J., Fernández-Ruiz, J.,
 Galve-Roperh, I. and Guzmán, M. (2010). Loss of striatal type 1 cannabinoid receptors is a
 key pathogenic factor in Huntington's disease. Brain, 134(1), pp.119-136.
- Blum, J. (1982). The Metabolic Role of Peroxisomes in Tetrahymena. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 386 (1 Peroxisomes a), pp.217-227.
- Bram, S. and Brachet, P. (1976). Inhibition of Proliferation and Differentiation of Dictyostelium Discoideum Amoebae by Tetrahydrocannabinol and Cannabinol. Marihuana, pp.207-211.
- Brown, K., Laun, A. and Song, Z. (2017). Cannabidiol, a novel inverse agonist for GPR12. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 493(1), pp.451-454.
- Brunetti, L., Loiodice, F., Piemontese, L., Tortorella, P. and Laghezza, A. (2019). New Approaches to Cancer Therapy: Combining Fatty Acid Amide Hydrolase (FAAH) Inhibition with Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptors (PPARs) Activation. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry, 62(24), pp.10995-11003.
- Burdick, A., Bility, M., Girroir, E., Billin, A., Willson, T., Gonzalez, F. and Peters, J. (2007). Ligand activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-β/δ(PPARβ/δ) inhibits cell growth of human N/TERT-1 keratinocytes. Cellular Signalling, 19(6), pp.1163-1171.
- Camp, H. and Tafuri, S. (1997). Regulation of Peroxisome Proliferator-activated Receptor γ Activity by Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 272(16), pp.10811-10816.
- Camp, H., Tafuri, S. and Leff, T. (1999). c-Jun N-Terminal Kinase Phosphorylates Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor-γ1 and Negatively Regulates Its Transcriptional Activity. Endocrinology, 140(1), pp.392-397.

- Casadio, P., Fernandes, C., Murray, R. and Di Forti, M. (2011). Cannabis use in young people: The risk for schizophrenia. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews, 35(8), pp.1779-1787.
- Castillo, P., Younts, T., Chávez, A. and Hashimotodani, Y. (2012). Endocannabinoid Signaling and Synaptic Function. Neuron, 76(1), pp.70-81.
- Caterina, M., Leffler, A., Malmberg, A., Martin, W., Trafton, J., Peterzen-Zeitz, K., Koltzenburg, M., Basbaum, A. and Julius, D. (2000). Impaired Nociception and Pain Sensation in Mice Lacking the Capsaicin Receptor. Science, 288(5464), pp.306-313.
- Caterina, M., Schumacher, M., Tominaga, M., Rosen, T., Levine, J. and Julius, D. (1997). The capsaicin receptor: a heat-activated ion channel in the pain pathway. Nature, 389(6653), pp.816-824.
- Chandran, K., Goswami, S. and Sharma-Walia, N. (2016). Implications of a peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha (PPARα) ligand clofibrate in breast cancer. Oncotarget, 7(13), pp.15577-15599.
- Chakravarti, B., Ravi, J. and Ganju, R. (2014). Cannabinoids as therapeutic agents in cancer: current status and future implications. Oncotarget, 5(15), pp.5852-5872.
- Chen, G., Lee, J., Wang, S., Chan, U., Ip, P. and Lau, W. (2002). Apoptosis induced by activation of peroxisome-proliferator activated receptor-gamma is associated with Bcl-2 and Nf-kB in human colon cancer. Life Sciences, 70(22), pp.2631-2646.
- Chinetti, G., Griglio, S., Antonucci, M., Torra, I., Delerive, P., Majd, Z., Fruchart, J., Chapman, J., Najib, J. and Staels, B. (1998). Activation of Proliferator-activated Receptors α and γ Induces Apoptosis of Human Monocyte-derived Macrophages. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 273(40), pp.25573-25580.
- Chinetti-Gbaguidi, G. and Staels, B. (2009). Lipid ligand-activated transcription factors regulating lipid storage and release in human macrophages. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids, 1791(6), pp.486-493.
- Chiesa, R., Silva, W. and Renaud, F. (1993). Pharmacological Characterization of an Opioid Receptor in the Ciliate Tetrahymena. Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology, 40(6), pp.800-804.
- Ciliate.org. (2019). TGD | Tetrahymena Genome Database Wiki. [online] Available at: <u>http://ciliate.org/index.php/home/welcome/</u>.
- Cooper, G. (2000). Peroxisomes. [online] Ncbi.nlm.nih.gov. Available at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK9930/ [Accessed 23 Jun. 2019].
- Covey, D., Mateo, Y., Sulzer, D., Cheer, J. and Lovinger, D. (2017). Endocannabinoid modulation of dopamine neurotransmission. Neuropharmacology, 124, pp.52-61.
- Cravatt, B., Demarest, K., Patricelli, M., Bracey, M., Giang, D., Martin, B. and Lichtman, A. (2001). Supersensitivity to anandamide and enhanced endogenous cannabinoid signaling in

mice lacking fatty acid amide hydrolase. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 98(16), pp.9371-9376.

- Cravatt, B., Giang, D., Mayfield, S., Boger, D., Lerner, R. and Gilula, N. (1996). Molecular characterization of an enzyme that degrades neuromodulatory fatty-acid amides. Nature, 384(6604), pp.83-87.
- Dariš, B., Tancer Verboten, M., Knez, Ž. and Ferk, P. (2019). Cannabinoids in cancer treatment: Therapeutic potential and legislation. Bosnian Journal of Basic Medical Sciences, 19(1), pp.14-23.
- De Duve, C. and Baudhuin, P. (1966). Peroxisomes (microbodies and related particles). Physiological Reviews, 46(2), pp.323-357.
- De Petrocellis, L., Melck, D., Bisogno, T. and Di Marzo, V. (2000). Endocannabinoids and fatty acid amides in cancer, inflammation and related disorders. Chemistry and Physics of Lipids, 108(1-2), pp.191-209.
- Desarnaud, F., Cadas, H. and Piomelli, D. (1995). Anandamide Amidohydrolase Activity in Rat Brain Microsomes. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 270(11), pp.6030-6035.
- Devane, W., Hanus, L., Breuer, A., Pertwee, R., Stevenson, L., Griffin, G., Gibson, D., Mandelbaum, A., Etinger, A. and Mechoulam, R. (1992). Isolation and structure of a brain constituent that binds to the cannabinoid receptor. Science, 258(5090), pp.1946-1949.
- Dey, R., Pernin, P. and Bodennec, J. (2010). Endocannabinoids Inhibit the Growth of Free-Living Amoebae. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, 54(7), pp.3065-3067.
- Di Cesare Mannelli, L., D'Agostino, G., Pacini, A., Russo, R., Zanardelli, M., Ghelardini, C. and Calignano, A. (2013). Palmitoylethanolamide Is a Disease-Modifying Agent in Peripheral Neuropathy: Pain Relief and Neuroprotection Share a PPAR-Alpha-Mediated Mechanism. Mediators of Inflammation, 2013, pp.1-12.
- Di Marzo, V., Bisogno, T., Sugiura, T., Melck, D. and Petrocellis, L. (1998). The novel endogenous cannabinoid 2-arachidonoylglycerol is inactivated by neuronal- and basophil-like cells: connections with anandamide. Biochemical Journal, 331(1), pp.15-19.
- Dinh, T., Carpenter, D., Leslie, F., Freund, T., Katona, I., Sensi, S., Kathuria, S. and Piomelli, D. (2002a). Brain monoglyceride lipase participating in endocannabinoid inactivation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 99(16), pp.10819-10824.
- Dionisi, M., Alexander, S. and Bennett, A. (2012). Oleamide activates peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARγ) in vitro. Lipids in Health and Disease, 11(1), p.51.
- Dreyer, C., Krey, G., Keller, H., Givel, F., Helftenbein, G. and Wahli, W. (1992). Control of the peroxisomal β-oxidation pathway by a novel family of nuclear hormone receptors. Cell, 68(5), pp.879-887.

- Eisen, J., Coyne, R., Wu, M., Wu, D., Thiagarajan, M., Wortman, J., Badger, J., Ren, Q., Amedeo, P., Jones, K., Tallon, L., Delcher, A., Salzberg, S., Silva, J., Haas, B., Majoros, W., Farzad, M., Carlton, J., Smith, R., Garg, J., Pearlman, R., Karrer, K., Sun, L., Manning, G., Elde, N., Turkewitz, A., Asai, D., Wilkes, D., Wang, Y., Cai, H., Collins, K., Stewart, B., Lee, S., Wilamowska, K., Weinberg, Z., Ruzzo, W., Wloga, D., Gaertig, J., Frankel, J., Tsao, C., Gorovsky, M., Keeling, P., Waller, R., Patron, N., Cherry, J., Stover, N., Krieger, C., del Toro, C., Ryder, H., Williamson, S., Barbeau, R., Hamilton, E. and Orias, E. (2006). Macronuclear Genome Sequence of the Ciliate Tetrahymena thermophila, a Model Eukaryote. PLoS Biology, 4(9), p.e286.
- El-Alfy, A., Ivey, K., Robinson, K., Ahmed, S., Radwan, M., Slade, D., Khan, I., ElSohly, M. and Ross, S. (2010). Antidepressant-like effect of Δ9-tetrahydrocannabinol and other cannabinoids isolated from Cannabis sativa L. Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior, 95(4), pp.434-442.
- Elmes, M., Kaczocha, M., Berger, W., Leung, K., Ralph, B., Wang, L., Sweeney, J., Miyauchi, J., Tsirka, S., Ojima, I. and Deutsch, D. (2015). Fatty Acid-binding Proteins (FABPs) Are Intracellular Carriers for Δ9-Tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) and Cannabidiol (CBD). Journal of Biological Chemistry, 290(14), pp.8711-8721.
- Evagorou, A., Anagnostopoulos, D., Farmaki, E. and Siafaka-Kapadai, A. (2010). Hydrolysis of 2-arachidonoylglycerol in Tetrahymena thermophila. Identification and partial characterization of a Monoacylglycerol Lipase-like enzyme. European Journal of Protistology, 46(4), pp.289-297.
- Facci, L., Dal Toso, R., Romanello, S., Buriani, A., Skaper, S. and Leon, A. (1995). Mast cells express a peripheral cannabinoid receptor with differential sensitivity to anandamide and palmitoylethanolamide. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 92(8), pp.3376-3380.
- Farmaki, E., Zafiriou, PM., Anagnostopoulos, D., Maccarrone, M. and Siafaka-Kapadai, A. (2005). NAPE-PLD-like and cannabinoid receptors in Tetrahymena pyriformis. Newsletter 52, 57th Meeting, Hellenic Society of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Athens, Greece pp.70.
- Fernández-Ruiz, J., Hernández, M. and Ramos, J. (2010). Cannabinoid-Dopamine Interaction in the Pathophysiology and Treatment of CNS Disorders. CNS Neuroscience & Therapeutics, 16(3), pp.e72-e91.
- Fredriksson, R., Lagerström, M., Lundin, L. and Schiöth, H. (2003). The G-Protein-Coupled Receptors in the Human Genome Form Five Main Families. Phylogenetic Analysis, Paralogon Groups, and Fingerprints. Molecular Pharmacology, 63(6), pp.1256-1272.
- Fu, J., Gaetani, S., Oveisi, F., Lo Verme, J., Serrano, A., Rodríguez de Fonseca, F., Rosengarth, A., Luecke, H., Di Giacomo, B., Tarzia, G. and Piomelli, D. (2003).
 Oleylethanolamide regulates feeding and body weight through activation of the nuclear receptor PPAR-α. Nature, 425(6953), pp.90-93.

- Fu, J., Oveisi, F., Gaetani, S., Lin, E. and Piomelli, D. (2005). Oleoylethanolamide, an endogenous PPAR-α agonist, lowers body weight and hyperlipidemia in obese rats. Neuropharmacology, 48(8), pp.1147-1153.
- Gaitán, A., Wood, J., Zhang, F., Makriyannis, A. and Lammi-Keefe, C. (2018). Endocannabinoid Metabolome Characterization of Transitional and Mature Human Milk. Nutrients, 10(9), p.1294.
- Gao, Y., Vasilyev, D., Goncalves, M., Howell, F., Hobbs, C., Reisenberg, M., Shen, R.,
 Zhang, M., Strassle, B., Lu, P., Mark, L., Piesla, M., Deng, K., Kouranova, E., Ring, R.,
 Whiteside, G., Bates, B., Walsh, F., Williams, G., Pangalos, M., Samad, T. and Doherty, P.
 (2010). Loss of Retrograde Endocannabinoid Signaling and Reduced Adult Neurogenesis in
 Diacylglycerol Lipase Knock-out Mice. Journal of Neuroscience, 30(6), pp.2017-2024.
- García, C., Palomo-Garo, C., Gómez-Gálvez, Y. and Fernández-Ruiz, J. (2015). Cannabinoid-dopamine interactions in the physiology and physiopathology of the basal ganglia. British Journal of Pharmacology, 173(13), pp.2069-2079.
- Giang, D. and Cravatt, B. (1997). Molecular characterization of human and mouse fatty acid amide hydrolases. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 94(6), pp.2238-2242.
- Giuffrida, A., Parsons, L., Kerr, T., de Fonseca, F., Navarro, M. and Piomelli, D. (1999). Dopamine activation of endogenous cannabinoid signaling in dorsal striatum. Nature Neuroscience, 2(4), pp.358-363.
- Goparaju, S., Ueda, N., Yamaguchi, H. and Yamamoto, S. (1998). Anandamide amidohydrolase reacting with 2-arachidonoylglycerol, another cannabinoid receptor ligand. FEBS Letters, 422(1), pp.69-73.
- Grygiel-Górniak, B. (2014). Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors and their ligands: nutritional and clinical implications a review. Nutrition Journal, 13(1), pp.17.
- Hayes, A., Stupak, J., Li, J. and Cox, A. (2013). Identification of N-acylethanolamines in Dictyostelium discoideumand confirmation of their hydrolysis by fatty acid amide hydrolase. Journal of Lipid Research, 54(2), pp.457-466.
- Hill, A., Williams, C., Whalley, B. and Stephens, G. (2012). Phytocannabinoids as novel therapeutic agents in CNS disorders. Pharmacology & Therapeutics, 133(1), pp.79-97.
- Hogg, J. F. (1969). Peroxisomes in Tetrahymena and their relation to gluconeogenesis. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 168(2), pp.281-291.
- Hughes, M., Liu, B., Halls, M., Wagstaff, K., Patil, R., Velkov, T., Jans, D., Bunnett, N., Scanlon, M. and Porter, C. (2015). Fatty Acid-binding Proteins 1 and 2 Differentially Modulate the Activation of Peroxisome Proliferator-activated Receptor α in a Ligandselective Manner. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 290(22), pp.13895-13906.

- Iannotti, F., Di Marzo, V. and Petrosino, S. (2016). Endocannabinoids and endocannabinoidrelated mediators: Targets, metabolism and role in neurological disorders. Progress in Lipid Research, 62, pp.107-128.
- Ilyin, V., Whittemore, E., Guastella, J., Weber, E. and Woodward, R. (1996). Subtypeselective inhibition of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors by haloperidol. Molecular Pharmacology, 50(6), pp.1541-1550.
- Im, J., Kang, K., Kim, S., Kim, Y., An, Y., Park, S., Jeong, B., Choi, S., Lee, J. and Kang, K. (2018). GPR119 agonist enhances gefitinib responsiveness through lactate-mediated inhibition of autophagy. Journal of Experimental & Clinical Cancer Research, 37(1), pp.295.
- Itoh, T., Fairall, L., Amin, K., Inaba, Y., Szanto, A., Balint, B., Nagy, L., Yamamoto, K. and Schwabe, J. (2008). Structural basis for the activation of PPARγ by oxidized fatty acids. Nature Structural & Molecular Biology, 15(9), pp.924-931.
- Izzo, A. and Sharkey, K. (2010). Cannabinoids and the gut: New developments and emerging concepts. Pharmacology & Therapeutics, 126(1), pp.21-38.
- Kaczocha, M., Glaser, S. and Deutsch, D. (2009). Identification of intracellular carriers for the endocannabinoid anandamide. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 106(15), pp.6375-6380.
- Kaczocha, M., Glaser, S., Chae, J., Brown, D. and Deutsch, D. (2010). Lipid Droplets Are Novel Sites of N-Acylethanolamine Inactivation by Fatty Acid Amide Hydrolase-2. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 285(4), pp.2796-2806.
- Kaczocha, M., Vivieca, S., Sun, J., Glaser, S. and Deutsch, D. (2012). Fatty Acid-binding Proteins Transport N-Acylethanolamines to Nuclear Receptors and Are Targets of Endocannabinoid Transport Inhibitors. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 287(5), pp.3415-3424.
- Kano, M., Ohno-Shosaku, T., Hashimotodani, Y., Uchigashima, M. and Watanabe, M. (2009). Endocannabinoid-Mediated Control of Synaptic Transmission. Physiological Reviews, 89(1), pp.309-380.
- Karava, V., Fasia, L. and Siafaka-Kapadai, A. (2001). Anandamide amidohydrolase activity, released in the medium by Tetrahymena pyriformis. Identification and partial characterization. FEBS Letters, 508(3), pp.327-331.
- Karava, V., Zafiriou, P., Fasia, L., Anagnostopoulos, D., Boutou, E., Vorgias, C., Maccarrone, M. and Siafaka-Kapadai, A. (2005). Anandamide metabolism by Tetrahymena pyriformis in vitro. Characterization and identification of a 66 kDa fatty acid amidohydrolase. Biochimie, 87(11), pp.967-974.
- Karlsson, M., Contreras, J., Hellman, U., Tornqvist, H. and Holm, C. (1997). cDNA Cloning, Tissue Distribution, and Identification of the Catalytic Triad of Monoglyceride Lipase. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 272(43), pp.27218-27223.

- Karlsson, M., Reue, K., Xia, Y., Lusis, A., Langin, D., Tornqvist, H. and Holm, C. (2001). Exon–intron organization and chromosomal localization of the mouse monoglyceride lipase gene. Gene, 272(1-2), pp.11-18.
- Katona, I. and Freund, T. (2008). Endocannabinoid signaling as a synaptic circuit breaker in neurological disease. Nature Medicine, 14(9), pp.923-930.
- Kim, K., Ahn, J. and Cheon, H. (2007). Apoptotic Action of Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor-γ Activation in Human Non–Small-Cell Lung Cancer Is Mediated via Proline Oxidase-Induced Reactive Oxygen Species Formation. Molecular Pharmacology, 72(3), pp.674-685.
- King, J., Veltman, D. and Insall, R. (2011). The induction of autophagy by mechanical stress. Autophagy, 7(12), pp.1490-1499.
- Kleberg, K., Hassing, H. and Hansen, H. (2014). Classical endocannabinoid-like compounds and their regulation by nutrients. BioFactors, 40(4), pp.363-372.
- Koay, L., Rigby, R. and Wright, K. (2014). Cannabinoid-induced autophagy regulates suppressor of cytokine signaling-3 in intestinal epithelium. American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology, 307(2), pp.140-148.
- Lampert, T., Coleman, K. and Hennessey, T. (2011). A Knockout Mutation of a Constitutive GPCR in Tetrahymena Decreases Both G-Protein Activity and Chemoattraction. PLoS ONE, 6(11), p.e28022.
- Laun, A. and Song, Z. (2017). GPR3 and GPR6, novel molecular targets for cannabidiol. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 490(1), pp.17-21.
- Lee, Y., Jo, J., Chung, H., Pothoulakis, C. and Im, E. (2016). Endocannabinoids in the gastrointestinal tract. American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology, 311(4), pp. G655-G666.
- Lee, D., George, S., O'Dowd, B., Evans, J. and Lynch, K. (2001). Orphan G protein-coupled receptors in the CNS. Current Opinion in Pharmacology, 1(1), pp.31-39.
- Lehmann, J., Moore, L., Smith-Oliver, T., Wilkison, W., Willson, T. and Kliewer, S. (1995). An Antidiabetic Thiazolidinedione Is a High Affinity Ligand for Peroxisome Proliferatoractivated Receptor γ (PPAR γ). Journal of Biological Chemistry, 270(22), pp.12953-12956.
- Leishman, E. and Bradshaw, H. (2015). N-Acyl Amides: Ubiquitous Endogenous Cannabimimetic Lipids That Are in the Right Place at the Right Time. The Endocannabinoidome, pp.33-48.
- Lenormand, P., Brondello, J., Brunet, A. and Pouysségur, J. (1998). Growth Factor–induced p42/p44 MAPK Nuclear Translocation and Retention Requires Both MAPK Activation and Neosynthesis of Nuclear Anchoring Proteins. Journal of Cell Biology, 142(3), pp.625-633.
- Levine, B. and Kroemer G. (2008). Autophagy in the pathogenesis of disease. Cell, 132(1), pp.27-42.
- Lu, H. and Mackie, K. (2016). An Introduction to the Endogenous Cannabinoid System. Biological Psychiatry, 79(7), pp.516-525.
- Lynch, D. and Gallagher, M. (1996). Inhibition of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors by haloperidol: developmental and pharmacological characterization in native and recombinant receptors. Journal of Pharmacology and experimental therapuetics, 279(1), pp.154-161.
- Maccarrone, M., van der Stelt, M., Rossi, A., Veldink, G., Vliegenthart, J. and Agrò, A. (1998). Anandamide Hydrolysis by Human Cells in Culture and Brain. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 273(48), pp.32332-32339.
- Maresz, K., Carrier, E., Ponomarev, E., Hillard, C. and Dittel, B. (2005). Modulation of the cannabinoid CB2 receptor in microglial cells in response to inflammatory stimuli. Journal of Neurochemistry, 95(2), pp.437-445.
- Massi, P., Vaccani, A., Bianchessi, S., Costa, B., Macchi, P. and Parolaro, D. (2006). The non-psychoactive cannabidiol triggers caspase activation and oxidative stress in human glioma cells. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences, 63(17), pp.2057-2066.
- Matias, I., Bisogno, T., Melck, D., Vandenbulcke, F., Verger-Bocquet, M., De Petrocellis, L., Sergheraert, C., Breton, C., Di Marzo, V. and Salzet, M. (2001). Evidence for an endocannabinoid system in the central nervous system of the leech Hirudo medicinalis. Molecular Brain Research, 87(2), pp.145-159.
- Matsuda, L., Lolait, S., Brownstein, M., Young, A. and Bonner, T. (1990). Structure of a cannabinoid receptor and functional expression of the cloned cDNA. Nature, 346(6284), pp.561-564.
- McClean, D. and Zimmerman, A. (1976). Action of Delta 9-Tetrahydrocannabinol on Cell Division and Macromolecular Synthesis in Division-Synchronized Protozoa. Pharmacology, 14(4), pp.307-321.
- McPartland, J., Matias, I., Marzo, V. and Glass, M. (2006). Evolutionary origins of the endocannabinoid system. Gene, 370, pp.64-74.
- Mechoulam R. (1986). The Pharmacohistory of Cannabis sativa, in Cannabis as Therapeutic Agent. CRC Press; Boca Raton, FL, USA, pp.1-19.
- Mechoulam, R., Ben-Shabat, S., Hanus, L., Ligumsky, M., Kaminski, N., Schatz, A., Gopher, A., Almog, S., Martin, B., Compton, D., Pertwee, R., Griffin, G., Bayewitch, M., Barg, J. and Vogel, Z. (1995). Identification of an endogenous 2-monoglyceride, present in canine gut, that binds to cannabinoid receptors. Biochemical Pharmacology, 50(1), pp.83-90.
- Merkel, O., Schmid, P., Paltauf, F. and Schmid, H. (2005). Presence and potential signaling function of N-acylethanolamines and their phospholipid precursors in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids, 1734(3), pp.215-219.
- Mesquita, A., Calvo-Garrido, J., Carilla-Latorre, S. and Escalante, R. (2013). Monitoring autophagy in Dictyostelium. Methods Molecular Biology, 983, pp.461-470.

- Morales, P. and Reggio, P. (2017). An Update on Non-CB1, Non-CB2 Cannabinoid Related G-Protein-Coupled Receptors. Cannabis and Cannabinoid Research, 2(1), pp.265-273.
- Morales, P., Isawi, I. and Reggio, P. (2018). Towards a better understanding of the cannabinoid-related orphan receptors GPR3, GPR6, and GPR12. Drug Metabolism Reviews, 50(1), pp.74-93.
- Morinishi, T., Tokuhara, Y., Ohsaki, H., Ibuki, E., Kadota, K. and Hirakawa, E. (2019). Activation and Expression of Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor Alpha Are Associated with Tumorigenesis in Colorectal Carcinoma. PPAR Research, 2019, pp.1-9.
- Muccioli, G. (2010). Endocannabinoid biosynthesis and inactivation, from simple to complex. Drug Discovery Today, 15(11-12), pp.474-483.
- Müller, M., Hogg, J. F., and De Duve, C. (1968). Distribution of tricarboxylic acid cycle enzymes and glyoxylate cycle enzymes between mitochondria and peroxisomes in Tetrahymena pyriformis. The Journal of Biological Chemistry, 243(20), pp.5385-5395.
- Munro, S., Thomas, K. and Abu-Shaar, M. (1993). Molecular characterization of a peripheral receptor for cannabinoids. Nature, 365(6441), pp.61-65.
- Murataeva, N., Straiker, A. and Mackie, K. (2014). Parsing the players: 2arachidonoylglycerol synthesis and degradation in the CNS. British Journal of Pharmacology, 171(6), pp.1379-1391.
- Nam, S., Kim, S., Lee, K., Kim, S., Kou, S., Lim, J., Hwang, H., Joo, M., Jeong, B., Yoo, S. and Park, S. (2009). N-Methyl-d-Aspartate Receptor-Mediated Chemotaxis and Ca²⁺ Signaling in Tetrahymena pyriformis. Protist, 160(2), pp.331-342.
- Nanney, D. (1974). Aging and long-term temporal regulation in ciliated protozoa. A critical review. Mechanisms of Ageing and Development, 3, pp.81-105.
- Nilsson, J. (1984). On starvation-induced autophagy in Tetrahymena. Carlsberg Research Communications, 49(2), pp.323-340.
- O'Sullivan, S. (2007). Cannabinoids go nuclear: evidence for activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors. British Journal of Pharmacology, 152(5), pp.576-582.
- O'Sullivan, S. (2016). An update on PPAR activation by cannabinoids. British Journal of Pharmacology, 173(12), pp.1899-1910.
- O'Sullivan, S., Kendall, D. and Randall, M. (2006). Further Characterization of the Time-Dependent Vascular Effects of 9-Tetrahydrocannabinol. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics, 317(1), pp.428-438.
- O'Sullivan, S., Kendall, D. and Randall, M. (2009a). Time-Dependent Vascular Effects of Endocannabinoids Mediated by Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor Gamma (PPAR). PPAR Research, 2009a, pp.1-9.

- O'Sullivan, S., Sun, Y., Bennett, A., Randall, M. and Kendall, D. (2009b). Time-dependent vascular actions of cannabidiol in the rat aorta. European Journal of Pharmacology, 612(1-3), pp.61-68.
- Okamoto, Y., Morishita, J., Tsuboi, K., Tonai, T. and Ueda, N. (2004). Molecular Characterization of a Phospholipase D Generating Anandamide and Its Congeners. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 279(7), pp.5298-5305.
- Oleson, E. and Cheer, J. (2012). A Brain on Cannabinoids: The Role of Dopamine Release in Reward Seeking. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine, 2(8), pp. a012229-a012229.
- Onaivi, E., Ishiguro, H., Gong, J., Patel, S., Perchuk, A., Meozzi, P., Myers, L., Mora, Z., Tagliaferro, P., Gardner, E., Brusco, A., Akinshola, B., Liu, Q., Hope, B., Iwasaki, S., Arinami, T., Teasenfitz, L. and Uhl, G. (2006). Discovery of the Presence and Functional Expression of Cannabinoid CB2 Receptors in Brain. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1074(1), pp.514-536.
- Ono, T., Cabrita-Santos, L., Leitao, R., Bettiol, E., Purcell, L., Diaz-Pulido, O., Andrews, L., Tadakuma, T., Bhanot, P., Mota, M. and Rodriguez, A. (2008). Adenylyl Cyclase α and cAMP Signaling Mediate Plasmodium Sporozoite Apical Regulated Exocytosis and Hepatocyte Infection. PLoS Pathogens, 4(2), p.e1000008.
- Overton, H., Babbs, A., Doel, S., Fyfe, M., Gardner, L., Griffin, G., Jackson, H., Procter, M., Rasamison, C., Tang-Christensen, M., Widdowson, P., Williams, G. and Reynet, C. (2006). Deorphanization of a G protein-coupled receptor for oleoylethanolamide and its use in the discovery of small-molecule hypophagic agents. Cell Metabolism, 3(3), pp.167-175.
- Pahl, H. (1999). Activators and target genes of Rel/NF-κB transcription factors. Oncogene, 18(49), pp.6853-6866.
- Pandolfo, P., Silveirinha, V., Santos-Rodrigues, A., Venance, L., Ledent, C., Takahashi, R., Cunha, R. and Köfalvi, A. (2011). Cannabinoids inhibit the synaptic uptake of adenosine and dopamine in the rat and mouse striatum. European Journal of Pharmacology, 655(1-3), pp.38-45.
- Patil, K., Goyal, S., Sharma, C., Patil, C. and Ojha, S. (2015). Phytocannabinoids for Cancer Therapeutics: Recent Updates and Future Prospects. Current Medicinal Chemistry, 22(30), pp.3472-3501.
- Patricelli, M., Lovato, M. and Cravatt, B. (1999). Chemical and Mutagenic Investigations of Fatty Acid Amide Hydrolase: Evidence for a Family of Serine Hydrolases with Distinct Catalytic Properties[†]. Biochemistry, 38(31), pp.9804-9812.
- Pertwee, R. (2008). The diverse CB1and CB2 receptor pharmacology of three plant cannabinoids: Δ9-tetrahydrocannabinol, cannabidiol and Δ9-tetrahydrocannabivarin. British Journal of Pharmacology, 153(2), pp.199-215.
- Pertwee, R. (2009). Cannabinoid pharmacology: the first 66 years. British Journal of Pharmacology, 147(S1), pp.S163-S171.

- Pertwee, R., Howlett, A., Abood, M., Alexander, S., Di Marzo, V., Elphick, M., Greasley, P., Hansen, H., Kunos, G., Mackie, K., Mechoulam, R. and Ross, R. (2010). International Union of Basic and Clinical Pharmacology. LXXIX. Cannabinoid Receptors and Their Ligands: Beyond CB1 and CB2. Pharmacological Reviews, 62(4), pp.588-631.
- Piscitelli, F. (2015). Endocannabinoidomics: "Omics" Approaches Applied to Endocannabinoids and Endocannabinoid-Like Mediators. The Endocannabinoidome, pp.137-152.
- Pringle, H., Bradley, S. and Harris, L. (1979). Susceptibility of Naegleria fowleri to delta 9tetrahydrocannabinol. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, 16(5), pp.674-679.
- Reisine, T. and Law, S. (1992). Pertussis Toxin in Analysis of Receptor Mechanisms. Methods in Neurosciences, pp.358-367.
- Rosenbaum, D., Rasmussen, S. and Kobilka, B. (2009). The structure and function of G-protein-coupled receptors. Nature, 459(7245), pp.356-363.
- Rouzer, C. and Marnett, L. (2008). Non-redundant Functions of Cyclooxygenases: Oxygenation of Endocannabinoids. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 283(13), pp.8065-8069.
- Rouzer, C. and Marnett, L. (2011). Endocannabinoid Oxygenation by Cyclooxygenases, Lipoxygenases, and Cytochromes P450: Cross-Talk between the Eicosanoid and Endocannabinoid Signaling Pathways. Chemical Reviews, 111(10), pp.5899-5921.
- Ruehle, M., Orias, E. and Pearson, C. (2016). Tetrahymena as a Unicellular Model Eukaryote: Genetic and Genomic Tools. Genetics, 203(2), pp.649-665.
- Ryberg, E., Larsson, N., Sjögren, S., Hjorth, S., Hermansson, N., Leonova, J., Elebring, T., Nilsson, K., Drmota, T. and Greasley, P. (2007). The orphan receptor GPR55 is a novel cannabinoid receptor. British Journal of Pharmacology, 152(7), pp.1092-1101.
- Sabatino, L., Pancione, M., Votino, C., Colangelo, T., Lupo, A., Novellino, E., Lavecchia, A. and Colantuoni, V. (2014). Emerging role of the β-catenin-PPARγ axis in the pathogenesis of colorectal cancer. World Journal of Gastroenterology, 20(23), p.7137-7151.
- Sánchez, C., Galve-Roperh, I., Canova, C., Brachet, P. and Guzmán, M. (1998). Δ9-Tetrahydrocannabinol induces apoptosis in C6 glioma cells. FEBS Letters, 436(1), pp.6-10.
- Sarafian, T., Kouyoumjian, S., Khoshaghideh, F., Tashkin, D. and Roth, M. (2002). Δ9-Tetrahydrocannabinol disrupts mitochondrial function and cell energetics. American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology, 284(2), pp.L298-L306.
- Sawzdargo, M., Nguyen, T., Lee, D., Lynch, K., Cheng, R., Heng, H., George, S. and O'Dowd, B. (1999). Identification and cloning of three novel human G protein-coupled receptor genes GPR52, GPR53 and GPR55: GPR55 is extensively expressed in human brain. Molecular Brain Research, 64(2), pp.193-198.

- Schmidt, A., Endo, N., Rutledge, S., Vogel, R., Shinar, D. and Rodan, G. (1992). Identification of a new member of the steroid hormone receptor superfamily that is activated by a peroxisome proliferator and fatty acids. Molecular Endocrinology, 6(10), pp.1634-1641.
- Scott, K. A., Dalgleish, A. G., & Liu, W. M. (2017). Anticancer effects of phytocannabinoids used with chemotherapy in leukaemia cells can be improved by altering the sequence of their administration. International Journal of Oncology, 51(1), pp.369–377.
- Seeman, P. and Van Tol, H. (1994). Dopamine receptor pharmacology. Trends in Pharmacological Sciences, 15(7), pp.264-270.
- Sertznig, P., Seifert, M., Tilgen, W. and Reichrath, J. (2007). Present concepts and future outlook: Function of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPARs) for pathogenesis, progression, and therapy of cancer. Journal of Cellular Physiology, 212(1), pp.1-12.
- Simon, G. and Cravatt, B. (2010). Characterization of mice lacking candidate N-acyl ethanolamine biosynthetic enzymes provides evidence for multiple pathways that contribute to endocannabinoid production in vivo. Molecular BioSystems, 6(8), p.1411.
- Soga, T., Ohishi, T., Matsui, T., Saito, T., Matsumoto, M., Takasaki, J., Matsumoto, S.,
 Kamohara, M., Hiyama, H., Yoshida, S., Momose, K., Ueda, Y., Matsushime, H., Kobori,
 M. and Furuichi, K. (2005). Lysophosphatidylcholine enhances glucose-dependent insulin
 secretion via an orphan G-protein-coupled receptor. Biochemical and Biophysical Research
 Communications, 326(4), pp.744-751.
- Starowicz, K., Nigam, S. and Di Marzo, V. (2007). Biochemistry and pharmacology of endovanilloids. Pharmacology & Therapeutics, 114(1), pp.13-33.
- Stefan, M. and Le Nove`re, N. (2013). Cooperative Binding. PLOS Computational Biology, 9(6), p.e1003106.
- Stephen, R., Gustafsson, M., Jarvis, M., Tatoud, R., Marshall, B., Knight, D., Ehrenborg, E., Harris, A., Wolf, C. and Palmer, C. (2004). Activation of Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor δ Stimulates the Proliferation of Human Breast and Prostate Cancer Cell Lines. Cancer Research, 64(9), pp.3162-3170.
- Su, C., Wen, X., Bailey, S., Jiang, W., Rangwala, S., Keilbaugh, S., Flanigan, A., Murthy, S., Lazar, M. and Wu, G. (1999). A novel therapy for colitis utilizing PPAR-γ ligands to inhibit the epithelial inflammatory response. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 104(4), pp.383-389.
- Suardíaz, M., Estivill-Torrús, G., Goicoechea, C., Bilbao, A. and de Fonseca, F. (2007). Analgesic properties of oleoylethanolamide (OEA) in visceral and inflammatory pain. Pain, 133(1), pp.99-110.
- Sugiura, T., Kondo, S., Sukagawa, A., Nakane, S., Shinoda, A., Itoh, K., Yamashita, A. and Waku, K. (1995). 2-Arachidonoylgylcerol: A Possible Endogenous Cannabinoid Receptor Ligand in Brain. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 215(1), pp.89-97.

- Sun, Y., Alexander, S., Garle, M., Gibson, C., Hewitt, K., Murphy, S., Kendall, D. and Bennett, A. (2007). Cannabinoid activation of PPARα; a novel neuroprotective mechanism. British Journal of Pharmacology, 152(5), pp.734-743.
- Sznaidman, M., Haffner, C., Maloney, P., Fivush, A., Chao, E., Goreham, D., Sierra, M., LeGrumelec, C., Xu, H., Montana, V., Lambert, M., Willson, T., Oliver, W. and Sternbach, D. (2003). Novel selective small molecule agonists for peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor δ (PPARδ)—synthesis and biological activity. Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters, 13(9), pp.1517-1521.
- Takeda, K., Ichiki, T., Tokunou, T., Iino, N. and Takeshita, A. (2001). 15-Deoxy-∆12,14prostaglandin J2 and Thiazolidinediones Activate the MEK/ERK Pathway through Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase in Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 276(52), pp.48950-48955.
- Thabuis, C., Tissot-Favre, D., Bezelgues, J., Martin, J., Cruz-Hernandez, C., Dionisi, F. and Destaillats, F. (2008). Biological Functions and Metabolism of Oleoylethanolamide. Lipids, 43(10), pp.887-894.
- Ud-Daula, A., Pfister, G. and Schramm, K. (2012). Identification of Dopamine Receptor in Tetrahymena thermophila by Fluorescent Ligands. Pakistan Journal of Biological Sciences, 15(23), pp.1133-1138.
- Uhlenbrock, K., Gassenhuber, H. and Kostenis, E. (2002). Sphingosine 1-phosphate is a ligand of the human gpr3, gpr6 and gpr12 family of constitutively active G protein-coupled receptors. Cellular Signalling, 14(11), pp.941-953.
- Urquhart, P., Nicolaou, A. and Woodward, D. (2015). Endocannabinoids and their oxygenation by cyclo-oxygenases, lipoxygenases and other oxygenases. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids, 1851(4), pp.366-376.
- Usdin, T., Mezey, E., Button, D., Brownstein, M. and Bonner, T. (1993). Gastric inhibitory polypeptide receptor, a member of the secretin-vasoactive intestinal peptide receptor family, is widely distributed in peripheral organs and the brain. Endocrinology, 133(6), pp.2861-2870.
- Verme, J., Fu, J., Astarita, G., La Rana, G., Russo, R., Calignano, A. and Piomelli, D. (2005). The Nuclear Receptor Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor- Mediates the Anti-Inflammatory Actions of Palmitoylethanolamide. Molecular Pharmacology, 67(1), pp.15-19.
- Volmat, V., Camps, M., Arkinstall, S., Pouysségur, J. and Lenormand, P. (2001). The nucleus, a site for signal termination by sequestration and inactivation of p42/p44 MAP kinases. Journal of Cell Science, 114(19), pp.3433-3443.
- Wakino, S., Kintscher, U., Kim, S., Yin, F., Hsueh, A. and Law, E. (2000). Peroxisome proliferators-activated receptor gamma ligands inhibit retinoblastoma phosphorylation and G1-S transition in vascular smooth muscle cells. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 275(29), pp.22435–22441.

- Wei, B., Mikkelsen, T., McKinney, M., Lander, E. and Cravatt, B. (2006). A Second Fatty Acid Amide Hydrolase with Variable Distribution among Placental Mammals. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 281(48), pp.36569-36578.
- Weiske-Benner, A. and Eckert, W. (1987). Differentiation of nuclear structure during the sexual cycle in Tetrahymena thermophila. Differentiation, 34(1), pp.1-12.
- Wilson, R., Kunos, G. and Nicoll, R. (2001). Presynaptic Specificity of Endocannabinoid Signaling in the Hippocampus. Neuron, 31(3), pp.453-462.
- Yin, H., Chu, A., Li, W., Wang, B., Shelton, F., Otero, F., Nguyen, D., Caldwell, J. and Chen, Y. (2009). Lipid G Protein-coupled Receptor Ligand Identification Using β-Arrestin PathHunterTM Assay. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 284(18), pp.12328-12338.
- Yorimitsu, T. and Klionsky, D. (2005). Autophagy: molecular machinery for self-eating. Cell Death & Differentiation, 12(S2), pp.1542-1552.
- Yu, S., Levi, L., Casadesus, G., Kunos, G. and Noy, N. (2014). Fatty Acid-binding Protein 5 (FABP5) Regulates Cognitive Function Both by Decreasing Anandamide Levels and by Activating the Nuclear Receptor Peroxisome Proliferator-activated Receptor β/δ (PPAR β/δ) in the Brain. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 289(18), pp.12748-12758.
- Zaveri, N., Sato, B., Jiang, F., Calaoagan, J., Laderoute, K. and Murphy, B. (2009). A novel peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor delta antagonist, SR13904, has anti-proliferative activity in human cancer cells. Cancer Biology & Therapy, 8(13), pp.1252-1261.
- Zhang, S., Feng, J., Cao, Y., Meng, L. and Wang, S. (2015). Autophagy prevents autophagic cell death in Tetrahymena in response to oxidative stress. Zoological research, 36(3), pp.167-173.
- Zhou, T., Yan, X., Wang, G., Liu, H., Gan, X., Zhang, T., Wang, J. and Li, L. (2015). Evolutionary Pattern and Regulation Analysis to Support Why Diversity Functions Existed within PPAR Gene Family Members. BioMed Research International, 2015, pp.1-11.
- Zimmerman, S., Zimmerman, A. and Laurence, H. (1981). Effect of Δ9 tetrahydrocannabinol on cyclic nucleotides in synchronously dividing Tetrahymena. Canadian Journal of Biochemistry, 59(7), pp.489-493.
- Zou, D. and Hennessey, T. (2017). Behavioral Effects of a Chemorepellent Receptor Knockout Mutation in Tetrahymena thermophila. mSphere, 2(4).
- Zou, S. and Kumar, U. (2018). Cannabinoid Receptors and the Endocannabinoid System: Signaling and Function in the Central Nervous System. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 19(3), p.833.
- Zygmunt, P., Petersson, J., Andersson, D., Chuang, H., Sørgård, M., Di Marzo, V., Julius, D. and Högestätt, E. (1999). Vanilloid receptors on sensory nerves mediate the vasodilator action of anandamide. Nature, 400(6743), pp.452-457.